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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Forty-First Annual General Meeti ng 
(“41st AGM”) of the shareholders of the Company will be held at Bukit Kiara 
Equestrian and Country Resort, Dewan Berjaya Room, Jalan Bukit Kiara, Off  
Jalan Damansara, 60000 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia on Tuesday, 21 September 
2010 at 10.30 a.m. for the purpose of considering and, if thought fi t, passing 
the following ordinary resoluti ons: -

AGENDA

Ordinary Business

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and the Audited Financial Statements 
of the Group and the Company for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2010 and 
the Auditors’ Report thereon.

2. To approve the payment of Directors’ fees in respect of the fi nancial year 
ended 31 March 2010.

3.  To re-elect the following Directors reti ring in accordance with Arti cle 83  of the 
Company’s Arti cles of Associati on:

 (a) En Aminuddin Yusof Lana; and

 (b) En Mohtar Bin Abdullah

4. To re-appoint Messrs Crowe Horwath (formerly known as Messrs Horwath) (AF: 
1018) as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors to fi x their 
remunerati on.

5. To transact any other ordinary business of the Company for which due noti ce 
has been given. 

Special Business

6. To consider and, if thought fi t, pass the following as Ordinary Resoluti on :

Proposed Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate for Recurrent Related Party 
Transacti ons of a Revenue or Trading Nature (“Proposed Renewal of 
Shareholders’ Mandate”)
 
 
“THAT the mandate previously granted by the shareholders of the Company at 
the 40th  Annual General Meeti ng (“AGM”) held on 19 August 2009 pursuant 
to the provisions of Bursa Malaysia Securiti es Berhad Main Market Listi ng 
Requirements, authorising the Company and its subsidiaries (“Maica Group”) 
to enter into the recurrent transacti ons of a revenue or trading nature as set 
out in Secti on 2.2.2. of the Circular to Shareholders dated 27 August 2010 with 
the related party menti oned therein which are necessary for the Maica Group’s 
day to day operati ons, be and is hereby renewed, provided THAT :-

 
(i) the transacti ons are in the ordinary course of business and are on terms 

not more favourable to the related party than those extended to unrelated 
third parti es and are not to the detriment of the minority shareholders of 
the Company; 

Ordinary Resoluti on 1

Ordinary Resoluti on 2

Ordinary Resoluti on 3(a)
Ordinary Resoluti on 3(b)

Ordinary Resoluti on 4
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
(cont’d)

(ii) disclosure of the breakdown of the aggregate value of transacti ons 
conducted pursuant to the shareholders’ mandate during the fi nancial 
year be made in the 2011 Annual Report based on the type of recurrent 
transacti ons made and the related party involved;

 
(iii) THAT authority conferred by the Proposed Renewal of Shareholders’ 

Mandate shall conti nue to be in force unti l:-
 

(a) the next AGM of Maica from the date of the 41st AGM and the authority 
has to be renewed by a resoluti on passed at the next AGM; or

 
(b) the expirati on of the period within which the next AGM of Maica is to 

be held pursuant to Secti on 143(1) of the Act (but shall not extend to 
such extension as may be allowed pursuant to Secti on 143(2) of the 
Act); or

 
(c) revoked or varied by resoluti on passed by the shareholders in a 

general meeti ng before the next  AGM.
 
whichever is the earlier.

 
 AND THAT the Directors of the Company be hereby authorised to complete 

and do all such acts and things as they may consider expedient or necessary 
to give eff ect to the Proposed Renewal of Shareholders’ Mandate.”

By Order of the Board

Lim Lai Sam
Secretary

Kuala Lumpur
27 August 2010

Ordinary Resoluti on 5 

Notes on Proxy Form: 

1. A member enti tled to att end and vote at the meeti ng is enti tled to appoint one or more proxies (but not more than two) to att end 
and vote instead of him.  A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company and the provisions of Secti on 149(1) (b) of the 
Companies Act, 1965 shall not apply to the Company.  Where a member appoints two proxies to att end the same meeti ng, the 
member shall specify the proporti on of his shareholding to be represented by each proxy, failing which the appointment shall be 
invalid.

2. The instrument appointi ng a proxy shall be in writi ng under the hand of the appointor or of his att orney duly authorised in writi ng 
or, if the appointor is a corporati on, either under the corporati on’s common seal or under the hand of an offi  cer or att orney duly 
authorised. The instrument appointi ng a proxy shall be deemed to confer authority to demand or join in demanding a poll.

3. The Proxy Form shall be deposited with the Company’s Share Registrars, Tricor Investor Services Sdn Bhd (formerly known as 
Tenaga Koperat Sdn Bhd), Level 17, The Gardens North Tower, Mid Valley City, Lingkaran Syed Putra, 59200 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, 
not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the ti me appointed for holding the meeti ng or any adjournment thereof.

Explanatory Note on Special Business
 
The proposed Ordinary Resoluti on 5, if passed, will allow the Maica Group, in its normal course of business, to conti nue to enter 
into Recurrent Related Party Transacti ons with the related party which are necessary for its day-to-day operati ons thereby reducing 
substanti ally the administrati ve ti me, inconvenience and expenses associated with the convening of separate general meeti ngs on 
an ad-hoc basis and enable the Group to realise business opportuniti es, as and when they shall become available to the Group, in a 
more ti mely and eff ecti ve manner.

MALAYSIA AICA BERHAD  (8235-K)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

AUDIT COMMITTEE 
Lee Yu-Jin (Chairman) (MIA Member)
Aminuddin Yusof Lana 
Mohtar Bin Abdullah

NOMINATION COMMITTEE 
Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Hua Choon
Lee Yu-Jin
Mohtar Bin Abdullah 

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Hua Choon
Lee Yu-Jin

SENIOR INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Lee Yu-Jin
Fax : (03)  4043 6750

COMPANY SECRETARY
Lim Lai Sam
(MAICSA NO. 0877479)

REGISTERED OFFICE
8-3, Jalan Segambut
51200 Kuala Lumpur
Malaysia
Tel: (03) 6195 1600
Fax: (03) 4043 6750

PRINCIPAL OFFICE
5100-A, Lorong Mak Mandin 5
Mak Mandin Industrial Estate
13400 Butt erworth, Penang
Malaysia
Tel:  (04) 3230 439
Fax: (04) 3329 342
Website : www.maicador.com

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Malayan Banking Berhad
EON Bank Berhad
Citi bank Berhad

SHARE REGISTRARS 
Tricor Investor Services Sdn Bhd 
(formerly known as Tenaga Koperat Sdn Bhd)
Level 17, The Gardens North Tower
Mid Valley City, Lingkaran Syed Putra
59200 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
Tel:  (03) 2264 3883
Fax: (03) 2282 1886

AUDITORS 
Messrs Crowe Horwath 
(formerly known as Messrs Horwath)
(Chartered Accountants)

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING
Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securiti es Berhad
Stock Name : MAICA 
Stock Code  : 3743

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Hua Choon  (Chairman, Non-Independent Non-Executi ve Director)

Lim Jian Hoo    (Executi ve Director)

Thor Poh Seng  (Executi ve Director)

Lee Yu-Jin  (Independent Non-Executi ve Director)

Aminuddin Yusof Lana  (Independent Non-Executi ve Director)

Mohtar Bin Abdullah  (Independent Non-Executi ve Director) 
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GROUP STRUCTURE 
as at 31 March 2010

MANUFACTURING

MALAYSIA AICA BERHAD

FINANCE

99%

100%

100%

25%

100%

92%

100%

Maica Wood Industries Sdn Bhd

Pinaremas Sdn Bhd

Mahakota Sdn Bhd

Consolidated Leasing (M) Sdn Bhd

Maicador Sdn Bhd

Consolidated Factoring (M) Sdn Bhd

Mariti me Credits (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd

Subsidiary

Associated Company

Note : Companies which are dormant or which had not commenced acti ve operati ons are excluded.
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GROUP FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
for the five financial years ended 31 March 2010

 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Revenue 27,695 24,195 17,426 20,038 19,312 

Profi t/(Loss) Before Tax (3,349) (7,912) 33 1,442 2,786
Profi t/(Loss) Aft er Tax And Minority 

Interest Att ributable To Shareholders (3,435) (8,108) 149 1,823 1,909
Dividend - Net - - - - -
Shareholders’ Fund 70,033 61,946 62,095 63,892 65,775
Earnings/(Loss) Per Share Based 

On Profi t/(Loss) Aft er Tax 
And Minority Interest (2.6 sen) (6.2 sen) 0.11 sen 1.4 sen 1.46 sen

Net Tangible Assets Per Share 54 sen 48 sen 48 sen 49 sen 50 sen
Dividend Rate - - - - - 

06
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19,312
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REVENUE
RM ‘000

PROFIT / (LOSS) BEFORE TAX
RM ‘000

SHAREHOLDERS’ FUND
RM ‘000
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am pleased to present 
the Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements of the 
Company and the Group for the fi nancial year ended 31 
March 2010.

RESULTS

The Group reported a higher pre-tax profi t of RM2.79 million for the year as against RM1.44 million pre-tax profi t 
in the previous fi nancial year, despite a 4% decline in revenue to RM19.31 million for the year, from RM20.04 
million a year ago.

The increase in profi t was mainly att ributed to the Group’s hire purchase business, whilst the decrease in revenue 
was mainly due to lower sales from the engineered door division.

At Company level,  profi t before tax was RM0.45 million for the current fi nancial year compared to a loss before 
tax of RM0.63 million in the previous year.  The turnaround in the current year was mainly due to a RM1.2 million 
dividend received from a subsidiary.    

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

During the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2010, the Company’s door manufacturing subsidiary, Maicador Sdn. Bhd. 
(“MDR”) conti nued to focus on producti on of engineered doors mainly for export markets, and fi re rated doors 
for the local market.  Sales order for fi re rated doors and engineered doors decreased by about 14% compared to 
that for the previous year due to the global economic uncertainty experienced throughout most part of 2009.  As 
a result MDR reported a lower profi t before tax of about RM0.45 million as against a profi t before tax of RM0.53 
million in the previous fi nancial year.

The hire purchase business carried out by another of the Company’s subsidiary, Consolidated Leasing (M) Sdn Bhd 
(“Conlease”) generated a revenue of RM4.63 million for the fi nancial year compared with a revenue of RM2.78 
million generated in the previous year.  In line with the increase in revenue, profi t before tax of Conlease for the 
year surged to RM3.4 million as against RM2.1 million reported in the previous fi nancial year. 

MALAYSIA AICA BERHAD  (8235-K)
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT 
(cont’d)

PROSPECTS

The general outlook for door manufacturing remains challenging as the Euro debts crisis has sparked fears of a 
contagion not only in the Euro zone but also to other regions, thus adversely impacti ng the fragile global economy.  
However, since June this year, demand for our engineered doors, parti cularly from Australia, has shown some 
improvement due to an improving economy there as a result of improved commodity prices and we are confi dent 
that the uptrend will conti nue.

In view of the above, prospects for the door division for the fi nancial year ending 31 March 2011 is expected to be 
reasonably good whereas the hire purchase business will conti nue to generate consistent income.  Therefore, the 
Board is hopeful that the Group will perform bett er in the fi nancial year ending 31 March 2011.

DIVIDEND

The Board of Directors does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 
2010.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, I would like to extend our appreciati on to the Management and Staff  for their eff orts, 
commitment and contributi on.  I would also like to express my sincere appreciati on to our valued customers, 
business associates and shareholders for their conti nued support and confi dence.

Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Hua Choon
Chairman

Kuala Lumpur
5 August 2010

ANNUAL REPORT 2010
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PROFILE OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Tan Sri Dato’ Tan was appointed as Director and Chairman of the Company on 23 September 1995 and 19 April 1996 
respecti vely. On 25 March 2002, he was appointed to the Nominati on Committ ee and Remunerati on Committ ee 
of the Company. 

Tan Sri Dato’ Tan is a self-made businessman with vast experience in business and industries. He has been involved 
in a wide range of businesses which include manufacturing, marketi ng, banking, shipping, property development 
and trading. 

He has built-up investments in numerous public listed companies. He is also the Chairman of Marco Holdings 
Berhad, Keladi Maju Berhad, FCW Holdings Berhad, Jasa Kita Berhad, GPA Holdings Berhad, PDZ Holdings Bhd and 
Goh Ban Huat Berhad. 

Mr Lim was appointed as Director of the Company and member of the Audit Committ ee on 1 February 1997 and 
1 November 2003 respecti vely. Mr Lim resigned as a member of the Audit Committ ee on 19 November 2007 
pursuant to the Best Practi ces of the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance (Revised 2007) which came into 
eff ect in October 2007.

He graduated with a Bachelor of Economics (Honours) degree from University of Malaya in 1969, obtained a 
Banking Diploma from the Chartered Insti tute of Bankers London in 1972 and became an Associate Member of 
Insti tute Bank-Bank Malaysia in 1980. 

Mr Lim joined Standard Chartered Bank Berhad in 1970 and worked in the banking sector for 22 years. In early 
1993, he joined Malaysian General Investment Corporati on Berhad (“MGIC”) as its Deputy Group Chief Executi ve 
and later assumed the post of Chief Executi ve Offi  cer of Charles Bradburne, a subsidiary of MGIC. From 1994 to 
1996, he was att ached with IC Bank Rt. Budapest, Hungary as the President and Chief Executi ve Offi  cer where he 
was responsible for the setti  ng up and development of the infrastructure framework of a new bank. He is also a 
director of PDZ Holdings Bhd.

Mr Thor was appointed a Director of the Company on 23 September 1995 and had served as a member of the 
Audit Committ ee from 23 December 1995 to15 December 2001.

He holds a Bachelor of Engineering degree from Universiti  Pertanian Malaysia (now known as Universiti  Putra 
Malaysia) and a Master’s degree in Business Management from the Asian Insti tute of Management, Philippines. 

Mr Thor was an ex-merchant banker from Commerce Internati onal Merchant Bankers Berhad (now known as CIMB 
Investment Bank Berhad) (“CIMB”) with extensive experience in corporate fi nance and corporate planning. Prior to 
joining CIMB, he has held senior positi ons in operati ons and fi nance in Dunlop Estate Berhad and Sitt  Tatt  Berhad 
respecti vely. He is also a Director of Marco Holdings Berhad, PDZ Holdings Bhd, Keladi Maju Berhad, FCW Holdings 
Berhad, Jasa Kita Berhad, GPA Holdings Berhad, Computer Forms (Malaysia) Berhad and Goh Ban Huat Berhad.

Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Hua Choon
69 years old – Malaysian • Chairman, Non-Independent Non-Executi ve Director

Lim Jian Hoo
64 years old – Malaysian • Executi ve Director

Thor Poh Seng
50 years old – Malaysian • Executi ve Director

MALAYSIA AICA BERHAD  (8235-K)
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Mr Lee was appointed as Director of the Company and Chairman of the Audit Committ ee on 25 March 2002. 
On the same day, he was also appointed to the Nominati on Committ ee and Remunerati on Committ ee of the 
Company. He graduated from University of Manchester, U.K. with a Bachelor of Arts (Honours) in Economics and 
is also a Member of the Insti tute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and the Malaysian Insti tute of 
Accountants.

Prior to joining Malaysia Aica Berhad, Mr Lee has held senior positi ons in fi nance and corporate aff airs, 
accounti ng and banking. He is also a Director of FCW Holdings Berhad, United Bintang Berhad and several private 
companies.

Presently, Mr Lee is the Chief Financial Offi  cer of Computer Forms (Malaysia) Berhad. 

En Aminuddin was appointed as Director of the Company and a member of the Audit Committ ee on 22 March 
2004. He holds a Bachelor of Commerce and Administrati on Degree from Victoria University of Wellington, New 
Zealand. He is a Chartered Accountant of the New Zealand Society of Accountants and an Associate member of the 
Insti tute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators of London and Wales. 

He had previously served as Director and later Managing Director of Renong Berhad from May 1990 to February 
1994 and as Director and Group Managing Director of Faber Group Berhad from June 1990 to December 1994. He 
was the Managing Director of Metacorp Berhad from January 1995 to December 1996. He was also the Managing 
Director of UEM Builders Berhad from March 2000 to November 2003.

Currently, he sits on the Board of Scomi Oiltools Internati onal Limited (Bermuda), Goh Ban Huat Berhad and ENC 
Sdn Bhd.

En Mohtar was appointed as Director of the Company and a member of the Audit Committ ee and Nominati on 
Committ ee on 17 November 2004. He holds a Diploma in Public Administrati on from Insti tut Tadbiran Awam 
Negara (Intan) and a Bachelor of Economics (Hons) Degree in Business Management from Nati onal University of 
Malaysia.

En Mohtar served in Malaysian Civil Service as Assistant Trade Commissioner of Malaysia in Tokyo, Japan from 
1981 to 1989. He assumed the post of Director of Investment, ASEAN Promoti on Centre on Trade and Investment 
in Tokyo from 1991 to 1994. He was att ached to MATRADE from 1994 to 2004 where he served as Consul and 
Trade Commissioner of Malaysia in Milan, Italy from 1994 to 2000 and subsequently based in Jeddah, Saudi Arabia 
unti l 2003. His last positi on in MATRADE was Director of Asia and Africa, Malaysian External Trade Development 
Corporati on.

PROFILE OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
(cont’d)

Lee Yu-Jin
43 years old - Malaysian • Independent Non-Executi ve Director

Aminuddin Yusof Lana
61 years old-Permanent Resident • Independent Non-Executi ve Director

Mohtar Bin Abdullah
61 years old - Malaysian • Independent Non-Executi ve Director

FURTHER INFORMATION ON THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS:

• Family Relati onship

 None of the Directors has any family relati onship with other Directors and major shareholders of the Company.

• Confl ict of Interest

 None of the Directors have any confl ict of interest with the Company.

• Convicti on of Off ences

 None of the Directors have been convicted of any off ence within the past 10 years, other than traffi  c off ence, 
if any.

ANNUAL REPORT 2010
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

The Board of Directors of Malaysia Aica Berhad believes that adopti ng and applying the principles and best 
practi ces set out in the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance (Revised 2007) (“the Code”) is important for the 
Group to safeguard and enhance the long-term shareholders’ value and the performance of the Group to increase 
the confi dence of the investors and establish customers’ trust for the conti nued growth of the Group’s business 
operati ons and the achievement of its business plan and objecti ves. 

To this end, the Board conti nues to encourage the practi ces of professionalism, integrity and  accountability 
throughout the Group and the adherence to the spirit of the Code as an eff ort to maintain corporate culture that 
emphasise on good corporate governance.

The Board is pleased to present the following disclosure on the applicati on of the principles of the Code and the 
extent of compliance with the best practi ces set out in the Code by the Group during the fi nancial year ended 31 
March 2010.

A. BOARD OF DIRECTORS

i) The Board

 The Malaysia Aica Berhad Group of Companies is managed and led by an experienced and eff ecti ve 
Board who has within it individuals drawn from varied professionals and specialisati on in the fi elds of 
manufacturing, trading, marketi ng, fi nance, accounti ng, corporate aff airs and administrati on. Together 
with the Management, they collecti vely bring a diverse range of skills and experti se to eff ecti vely discharge 
their responsibiliti es towards achieving the Group’s business strategies and corporate goals. 

 The Executi ve Directors together with the Group’s management have regular meeti ngs wherein operati onal 
details and other issues were discussed and considered. Apart from the management meeti ngs, the 
Executi ve Directors also hold informal meeti ngs with the other members of the Board whenever necessary. 
There were two offi  cial Board Meeti ngs held during the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2010. The details 
of att endance of each Board Member at the Board meeti ngs are as follow :

      
 Director Status % of Att endance
 
 Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Hua Choon Chairman 100
  Non- Independent Non- Executi ve Director 
 Mr Lim Jian Hoo Executi ve Director 100
 Mr Thor Poh Seng Executi ve Director 100
 Mr Lee Yu-Jin Independent Non-Executi ve Director 100
 En Aminuddin Yusof Lana  Independent Non-Executi ve Director 100
 En Mohtar Bin Abdullah Independent Non-Executi ve Director 100

 All the deliberati ons and conclusions of the Board meeti ngs were properly recorded by the Company 
Secretary present at the meeti ng.

ii) Board Committ ees

 The Board has delegated specifi c responsibiliti es and duti es to its three Committ ees; namely the Audit, 
Nominati on and Remunerati on Committ ees, which operate under their respecti ve defi ned terms of 
reference. These Committ ees, which do not have executi ve powers, will deliberate and examine parti cular 
issues and report to the Board with their recommendati ons. The ulti mate responsibility for the fi nal 
decision, however, lies with the enti re Board. 

 Audit Committ ee

 The Maica Audit Committ ee was established on 19 January 1994. The compositi on of the Committ ee, 
terms of reference and the summary of its acti viti es carried out during the fi nancial year ended 31 March 
2010 are set out in pages 19 to 22 of this Annual Report.

MALAYSIA AICA BERHAD  (8235-K)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
(cont’d)

A. BOARD OF DIRECTORS (cont’d)

 Nominati on Committ ee

 The Nominati on Committ ee, which was established on 25 March 2002 comprises of three Non-Executi ve 
Directors, two of whom are independent, is tasked with the responsibility of recommending to the Board, 
suitable candidates for appointment as Directors and to fi ll the seats on Board Committ ees, whenever 
necessary. It will also carry out the process of assessing the eff ecti veness of the Board as a whole, the 
Board Committ ees and the contributi on of each individual Director.

 Decision on appointments of new Directors is made by the full Board on a collecti ve basis aft er considering 
recommendati ons of the Nominati on Committ ee. 

 Generally, the Nominati on Committ ee will assist the Board to review annually its required mix of skills, 
experience and other qualiti es, including core competencies which the Non-Executi ve Directors should 
bring to the Board.

 The present members of the Nominati on Committ ee are:-

1) Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Hua Choon - Non-Independent Non-Executi ve Director

2) Mr Lee Yu-Jin - Independent Non-Executi ve Director

3) En Mohtar Bin Abdullah - Independent Non-Executi ve Director 

 During the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2010, the Nominati on Committ ee had a meeti ng where all the 
Nominati on Committ ee Members present thereat carried out an annual evaluati on process on the Board 
of Directors as a whole, Board Committ ees and each individual Director. The proceedings of the meeti ng 
were properly recorded and documented.  

 Remunerati on Committ ee

 The Board had also set up a Remunerati on Committ ee on 25 March 2002 which comprise wholly of Non-
Executi ve Directors. The Committ ee’s primary responsibility is to recommend to the Board the remunerati on 
of the Executi ve Directors in all its forms, drawing from outside resources where necessary.

 The Directors who served the Remunerati on Committ ee during the 2010 fi nancial year were as follows : 

1) Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Hua Choon - Non-Independent Non-Executi ve Director

2) Mr Lee Yu-Jin - Independent Non-Executi ve Director

 The Remunerati on Committ ee members met once during the fi nancial year and it reviewed the 
remunerati on packages and benefi ts accorded to the Executi ve Directors as well as the Non-Executi ve 
Directors’ remunerati on. The Directors concerned will abstain from deliberati ng on their own remunerati on 
packages.

iii) Board Balance

 Presently, the Board comprises six members with two Executi ve Directors and four Non-Executi ve 
Directors, three of whom are Independent Non-Executi ve Directors. With this Board compositi on, the 
Company fully complies with the Main Market Listi ng Requirements (“Main Market LR”) of Bursa Malaysia 
Securiti es Berhad (“Bursa Securiti es”) with regard to the consti tuti on of the Board of Directors and the 
required rati o of Independent Directors, as well as the requirement for a director who is a member of the 
Malaysian Insti tute of Accountants to sit on the Audit Committ ee. The profi les of Board members are set 
out in pages 9 to 10 of this Annual Report.

 The Board considers its current compositi on with the mix of skills and experti se suffi  cient and opti mum to 
discharge its duti es and responsibiliti es eff ecti vely.

ANNUAL REPORT 2010
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
(cont’d)

A. BOARD OF DIRECTORS (cont’d)

iii) Board Balance (cont’d)
 
 There is clear segregati on of responsibility between the Chairman of the Board and the Executi ve Directors 

to ensure that there is a balance of power and authority in the Group where : 

• the Non-Executi ve Chairman is primarily responsible for the eff ecti veness and proper conduct of the 
Board; while

• the Executi ve Directors have the responsibility of implementi ng the policies and decisions of the Board, 
overseeing as well as coordinati ng the development and implementati on of business and corporate 
strategies. 

 The Non-Executi ve Directors parti cipate in areas such as establishment of policies and strategies, 
performance monitoring as well as improving governance and control and are independent of management 
and have no relati onships which could materially interfere the exercise of their independent judgment so 
as to ensure that the interests of not only the Group, but also the stakeholders and the public in general 
are represented.

iv) Supply of Informati on

 All the Board and committ ee members have ti mely access to relevant informati on pertaining to the 
Group as well as to the advice and services of the Company Secretary, Management representati ves and 
independent professional advisers wherever necessary, at the Company’s expense to enable the Board and 
Committ ee members to discharge their duti es with adequate knowledge on the matt ers being deliberated. 
They are also kept informed of the requirements and updates issued by the regulatory authoriti es from 
ti me to ti me.

 Prior to each scheduled Board Meeti ng, all the Board members are provided with the requisite noti ce, 
agenda and the Board Papers containing informati on relevant to the business of the meeti ng to enable 
them to have suffi  cient ti me to peruse the papers to assess all aspects of the Group’s performance and for a 
comprehensive understanding of the issues to be deliberated and, if necessary, obtain further informati on 
or clarifi cati on from the Management to ensure eff ecti veness of the proceedings at the meeti ng. Senior 
Management members are invited to att end these meeti ngs to explain and clarify matt ers. 

 In additi on, there is a formal schedule of matt ers specifi cally reserved for the Board’s decision including, 
among other things, business strategies, operati onal policies and effi  cacies, acquisiti ons and disposals of 
material assets, investment policies and approval of fi nancial statements. Minutes of every Board meeti ng 
are circulated to the Board members prior to its confi rmati on at the following Board meeti ng. The Board 
also receives minutes of Audit Committ ee meeti ngs and is briefed on signifi cant issues which merits its 
special att enti on and approval.

v) Appointments to the Board

 Appointment of new Directors will fi rst be considered and evaluated by the Nominati on Committ ee, 
through a formal and transparent selecti on procedure, aft er which appropriate recommendati on will be 
put forward to the Board for its considerati on and approval.

vi) Directors’ Training

 All the existi ng Directors of the Company have completed the Mandatory Accreditati on Programme in 
accordance with the Main Market LR. Pursuant to that, the Board members have also took part in various 
accredited seminars under the Conti nuing Educati on Programme prescribed by the Bursa Securiti es. 

 The Board recognises the importance of conti nuous educati on for its members to gain an insight into 
the statutory and regulatory updates and the development in the industry and business environment 
within which the Group operates and is committ ed to ensure that its Directors are equipped with the 
appropriate knowledge and skills through formal and informal training/briefi ngs to keep abreast with 
recent developments in laws, regulati ons and industry. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
(cont’d)

A. BOARD OF DIRECTORS (cont’d)

vi) Directors’ Training (cont’d)
 
 The training programme, forum and evening talks att ended by the Directors of the Company during the 

2010 fi nancial year covered the following topics :

• Various sessions of Evening Talks on Corporate Governance organised by Bursa Securiti es :
 - Best Practi ces of Boardroom Aff airs;
 - Directors’ Duti es;
 - Corporate Governance Revisited;

- Corporate Responsibility overview and identi fying Corporate Responsibility Risks and Opportunity 
for  Companies;

• Forum on “The challenges of implementi ng FRS139”; and
• Goods & Services Tax (GST) a new Tax Regime.

 The Directors were also briefed by the Company Secretary from ti me to ti me during Board meeti ngs on 
changes in statutory requirements, where relevant. 

vii) Re-electi on of Directors

 In accordance with the Company’s Memorandum and Arti cles of Associati on, one-third of the Directors for 
the ti me being or, if their number is not a multi ple of three, the number nearest to one-third shall reti re 
from offi  ce and be eligible for re-electi on at each Annual General Meeti ng. Newly appointed Directors 
shall hold offi  ce unti l the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeti ng and shall be eligible for re-
electi on, but shall not be taken into account in determining the number of Directors who are to reti re by 
rotati on at such meeti ng.

 The Arti cles also provide that all Directors be subjected to reti rement by rotati on at least once every three 
(3) years.

B. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

i) Level and make-up

 The Remunerati on Committ ee reviews annually the levels of remunerati on off ered for Directors to ensure 
that they are suffi  cient to att ract and retain Directors with the relevant experience and experti se needed to 
manage the Group successfully, while at the same ti me taking into considerati on the state of the economy 
in general and the performance of the industry and the Group in parti cular. 

 In the case of Executi ve Directors, the component parts of remunerati on are structured to link rewards 
to the Group and individual performance. As for the case of Non-Executi ve Directors, the level of 
remunerati on refl ects the experience and level of responsibiliti es and parti cipati on by the parti cular Non-
Executi ve Director concerned.

ii) Procedure

 The Remunerati on Committ ee is responsible for recommending to the Board the policy framework of 
executi ve remunerati on and the fi xing of the remunerati on of individual Directors. The Director concerned 
will abstain from deliberati on and decision in respect of his/her own remunerati on package.

iii) Disclosure

 The details of Directors’ Remunerati on paid or payable to all the Directors of the Company who served 
during the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2010 are as follows:-
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
(cont’d)

B. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (cont’d)

iii) Disclosure (cont’d)

a) Aggregate remunerati on of Directors categorised into the following components :
 
  Executi ve Directors Non-Executi ve Directors Total 
Category of Remunerati on   (RM’000)  (RM’000) (RM’000)

(a) Fees    - 42 42
(b) Salaries and other emoluments  347 - 347
(c) Bonuses    25 - 25
(d) Esti mated value of benefi ts-in-kind - - - 

Total (RM’000)   372 42 414

b) The number of Directors whose remunerati on fall within the following bands:

     No. of 
   No. of Executi ve Non-Executi ve 
Band (RM)  Directors Directors Total

1 –   50,000 1 4 5
50,001 – 100,000 - - -

100,001 – 150,000 - - -
150,001 – 200,000 - - -
200,001 – 250,000 - - -
250,001 – 300,000 - - -
300,001 – 400,000 1 - 1

Total   2 4 6

Note : The above disclosures which do not reveal the details of the remunerati on of each director for security and 
confi denti ality reason, conform with the requirement under Appendix 9C Part A (11) of the Main Market LR.

C. RELATIONSHIP WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

i) Dialogue between Company and Investors

 The Board acknowledges the importance of being accountable to the shareholders and the investors 
via a direct and eff ecti ve line of communicati on. As such the Group always ensures ti mely release of the 
quarterly fi nancial results, audited fi nancial statements, corporate developments and announcements of 
the Group via the BURSA LINK, Company’s annual reports and other circulars to shareholders and where 
appropriate, ad hoc press statements which serve as the principal channel in keeping the shareholders 
and the investi ng public informed of the Group’s major development, overview of fi nancial performance 
and progress throughout the year. 

 Besides, the Group also maintains a website at www.maicador.com which can be accessed by the 
shareholders and public for informati on on the Group.  
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
(cont’d)

C. RELATIONSHIP WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS (cont’d)

ii) General Meeti ngs of Shareholders

 The Annual General Meeti ngs (“AGM”) of the shareholders of the Company represent the main  
communicati on channel for interacti on between the Board and the shareholders. Extraordinary General 
Meeti ngs (“EGM”) of the Company will be held as and when shareholders’ approvals are required on 
specifi c matt ers. 

 Noti ces of AGMs and EGMs are distributed to shareholders within a reasonable and suffi  cient ti me frame 
and are published in a nati onally circulated daily newspaper.

 At each AGM, the Board presents the progress and performance of the business of the Group during 
the parti cular fi nancial year as contained in the Annual Report. Shareholders are given the opportunity 
to express their view or seek clarifi cati on on issues pertaining to the Group’s fi nancial statements, 
transacti ons, business acti viti es and prospects of the Group wherein, the Directors, Financial Controller 
and the External Auditors are available to respond to the queries before each resoluti on is carried. A press 
conference is normally held aft er each AGM or EGM of the Company whereat, the Board members are 
available to answer questi ons posted by journalists pertaining to the business operati ons and directi ons 
of the Group.

 Apart from that, the Group’s fi nancial highlights and other signifi cant issues aff ecti ng the Group are 
disseminated via BURSA LINK in a ti mely manner. 

 Any queries and concerns pertaining to the Group may also be conveyed to Mr Lee Yu-Jin, the Senior 
Independent Non-Executi ve Director of the Company at the registered offi  ce of the Company. 

D. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

i) Financial Reporti ng

 It is the Board’s commitment to provide and present a clear, balanced and comprehensive assessment of 
the Group’s fi nancial performance and prospects through the annual fi nancial statements and quarterly 
results to the shareholders. In this respect, the Board is assisted by the Audit Committ ee to scruti nise 
the Group’s fi nancial reporti ng process for quarterly results and annual fi nancial statements  to ensure 
correctness and adequacy of disclosure prior to their release by the Secretary via BURSA LINK.

 A statement by Directors of their responsibiliti es in preparing the fi nancial statements is set out in page 
18 of this Annual Report. 

ii) Internal Control
 
 The Board is fully aware of its overall responsibility of conti nuously maintaining a sound system of internal 

control which covers not only fi nancial controls but also operati onal and compliance controls as well as 
risk management, and the need to review its eff ecti veness regularly in order to safeguard shareholders’ 
investment and company’s assets. The internal control system is designed to identi fy the risk to which the 
Group are exposed to and miti gate the impact thereon to meet the parti cular needs of the Group. 

 As an eff ort to enhance the system of internal control, the Group will conti nue to review the adequacy, 
eff ecti veness and integrity of its internal control systems to ensure that they are in line with the changing 
operati ng environment within which the Group operates. 

 The Internal Control Statement by the Board which provides an overview of the Group’s state of internal  
control is set out in pages 23 to 24 of this Annual Report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
(cont’d)

D. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (cont’d)

iii) Relati onship with Auditors

 The Board of Directors and the Management has established a professional relati onship with the external 
auditors and always maintains a formal and transparent relati onship with the auditors in seeking their 
professional advice and opinion with regard to the Group’s compliance with the relevant approved 
accounti ng standards to enable them to provide independent reporti ng. The Auditors are invited for 
meeti ngs of the Audit Committ ee or Board as and when the need arises. 

 The role of the Audit Committ ee in relati on to its relati onship with the External Auditors is set out in pages        
19 to 21 of this Annual Report.

E. ADDITIONAL COMPLIANCE INFORMATION

Non-Audit Fee

 A total of RM 14,600 non-audit fees was incurred for services rendered to the Group for the 2010 fi nancial 
year by the Company’s auditors and a company affi  liated to the auditors’ fi rm.  

Material Contract Involving Directors’ and Major Shareholders’ Interest

 Save as in the ordinary course of business, there were no material contracts entered into by the Group which 
involved Directors’ and major shareholders’ interests during the fi nancial year.

Revaluati on Policy On Landed Properti es

 The Group does not have any revaluati on policy on landed properti es.

Recurrent Related Party Transacti ons of a Revenue Nature

 The details of the recurrent related party transacti ons of a revenue or trading in nature which took place 
during the 2010 fi nancial year are disclosed in Note 24 to the Financial Statements set out in page 62 of this 
Annual Report.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Group conti nues to integrate Corporate Social Responsibility (“CSR”) practi ces into its day-to-day business 
operati ons and works towards a balanced approach in fulfi lling its key business objecti ves and the stakeholders’ 
expectati ons. 

As such, in pursuing its business objecti ves, the Group takes into considerati on its social obligati ons which, among 
others, include the following measures : 

Workplace 

The Group has in place an Occupati onal Safety and Health Committ ee within the Group to develop policies and 
guidelines and ensure that such health and safety policies are eff ecti vely implemented and adhered to by the 
Group’s workforce. On-going trainings were provided by the Group to develop its employees’ potenti als in various 
aspects. Besides, in treasuring human capital as an asset of the Group, employees are provided with insurance 
coverage and other benefi ts. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
(cont’d)

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT (cont’d)

Environment

On the aspect of environment conservati on, the Group has certain measures in place in its factories such as proper 
ducti ng and waste disposal system to minimise the adverse impact on the environment and to achieve an opti mum 
level of environmental protecti on and performance as far as economically practi cable. Steps have also been taken 
by the Group to reduce consumpti on of resources and the generati on of waste by encouraging its employees to 
practi ce recycling and reduce wastage of papers and energy.

The Group is keen to achieve more progress in its CSR initi ati ves through various acti viti es which will enhance work 
ethics and environmental awareness among its employees within which the Group operates.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Board has a collecti ve responsibility of ensuring that the fi nancial statements of the Company and the Group 
are drawn up in accordance with the applicable approved accounti ng standards of Malaysia, Main Market LR and 
the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965 to refl ect a true and fair view of the Company and the Group’s state of 
aff airs, results and cash fl ow positi on for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2010. 

In assuming the above compliance responsibiliti es, the Directors affi  rmed that they have taken into considerati on 
the following aspects in preparing the fi nancial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2010 :

• adopted appropriate accounti ng policies and applied them consistently;
• made judgment and esti mates that were prudent and reasonable;
• ensured the applicable accounti ng standards had been complied with; and 
• prepared the fi nancial statements on the going concern basis.

The Directors are responsible to ensure that the Company and its subsidiaries keep suffi  cient accounti ng records 
which disclose with reasonable accuracy the fi nancial positi on of the Group and the Company at any ti me and 
which enable them to confi rm that the fi nancial statements comply with the requirements of the Act. In additi on, 
the Directors have the general responsibility for taking reasonable steps to safeguard the assets of the Company 
and the Group to prevent and detect fraud and other irregulariti es. 
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

The Board of Directors of Malaysia Aica Berhad (“Maica”) is pleased to present the report of the Maica Audit 
Committ ee for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2010.

COMPOSITION OF AUDIT COMMITTEE 

The Maica Audit Committ ee was established by the Company’s Board of Directors on 19 January, 1994. The 
members of the Maica Audit Committ ee are as follows : 

Chairman

Mr Lee Yu-Jin (MIA Member) Independent Non-Executi ve Director

Members

Encik Aminuddin Yusof Lana Independent Non-Executi ve Director

Encik Mohtar Bin Abdullah Independent Non-Executi ve Director

TERMS OF REFERENCE

1. Membership

 The Maica Audit Committ ee shall be appointed by the Board from amongst their number and shall consist 
of not less than 3 members, a majority of whom shall be independent non-executi ve directors. Executi ve 
director(s) and alternate director(s) cannot be appointed as  member(s) of the Committ ee. In the event of any 
vacancy in the Committ ee which results in non-compliance of paragraph 15.09(1) of the Main Market Listi ng 
Requirements (“Main Market LR”) of Bursa Malaysia Securiti es Berhad (“Bursa Securiti es”), the vacancy shall 
be fi lled within 3 months.

 At least one member of the Committ ee must be qualifi ed under paragraph 15.09 (1)(c) of the Main Market LR 
of Bursa Securiti es.

 The Chairman of the Committ ee shall be an independent non-executi ve director appointed by the Board. 

2. Frequency of Meeti ngs

 Meeti ngs shall be held not less than four ti mes a year.  In additi on, the Chairman of the Committ ee may call 
a meeti ng of the Committ ee upon the request of the external auditors, to consider any matt er the external 
auditors believe should be brought to the att enti on of the Board and shareholders.

 Majority members present in person who are independent non-executi ve directors shall be a quorum.

3. Secretary

 The Company Secretary shall be the Secretary of the Committ ee. 

4. Authority

The Maica Audit Committ ee shall, at the Company’s expense, have the following authority and rights:-

i) full and unrestricted access to any informati on and documents from the external auditors and senior 
management of the Company and the Group which are relevant to the acti viti es of the Company.

ii) be provided with the necessary resources which are required to perform its duti es.

iii) the right to investi gate into any matt er within its Terms of Reference and as such, have direct 
communicati on channel with the external auditors and persons carrying out the internal audit functi on 
of the Company.

iv) the liberty to obtain independent professional advice and to secure the att endance of such external 
parti es with relevant experience and experti se at its meeti ng if it considers this necessary.

v) be able to convene meeti ngs with the external auditors, the internal auditors or both, excluding the 
att endance of other directors and employees of the Group, whenever deemed necessary.

vi) may extend invitati on to other non-member directors and offi  cers of the Company to att end a specifi c 
meeti ng, whenever deemed necessary.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
(cont’d)

TERMS OF REFERENCE (cont’d)

5. Duti es

 The Maica Audit Committ ee shall report to the Board of Directors either formally in writi ng, or verbally, as it 
considers appropriate on the matt ers within its Terms of Reference.

 The duti es of the Maica Audit Committ ee shall be :-

i) To review the audit plan with the external auditors;

ii) To review the audit report with the external auditors;

iii) To review the assistance given by the Company’s offi  cers to the external auditors and to meet with the 
external auditors without executi ve board members’ presence at least twice a year;

iv) To review the quarterly results and year-end fi nancial statements of the Company and the Group, prior to 
the approval by the Board, focussing parti cularly on:

a. changes in or implementati on of major accounti ng policies;

b. signifi cant and unusual events; and 

c. compliance with accounti ng standards, regulatory and other legal requirements.

v) To review any related party transacti on and confl ict of interest situati on that may arise within the 
Company and the Group including any transacti on, procedure or course of conduct that raises questi ons 
of management integrity;

vi) To review the adequacy of the scope, functi ons, competency and resources of the internal audit functi ons 
and to ensure that it has the necessary authority to carry out its work;

vii) To take cognizance of resignati ons of internal audit staff  members and provide the resigning staff  member 
an opportunity to submit his/her reasons for resigning, if the staff  member concerned so desires;

viii) To review any internal audit programme, processes, the results of the internal audit programme, processes 
or investi gati ons undertaken and whether or not appropriate acti on is taken on the recommendati ons of 
the internal audit functi on;

ix) To review any evaluati on made on the systems of internal controls with the internal and external 
auditors;

x) To recommend to the Board of Directors the appointment of the external auditors and the level of their 
fees;

xi) To consider any resignati on or removal of the external auditors, and to furnish such writt en explanati on 
or representati on from the external auditors to Bursa Malaysia Securiti es Berhad;

xii) To review whether there is reason (supported by grounds) to believe that the external auditors are not 
suitable for re-appointments;

xiii) The Chairman of the Audit Committ ee should engage on a conti nuous basis with senior management, 
the head of internal audit and the external auditors in order to be kept informed of matt ers aff ecti ng the 
Company; and

xiv) To undertake such other functi ons as may be agreed by the Maica Audit Committ ee and the Board.

6. Performance Review

 The term of offi  ce and performance of the Maica Audit Committ ee and each of its members shall be reviewed 
by the Board of Directors of the Company at least once every three (3) years to determine whether the 
committ ee and members have carried out their duti es in accordance with the Audit Committ ee’s Terms of 
Reference. 
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
(cont’d

MEETINGS

The Maica Audit Committ ee held four meeti ngs with due noti ce of issues to be discussed circulated to the 
Committ ee Members during the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2010.

The att endance records of the Audit Committ ee members at the meeti ngs are as follows :

                            Date of Meeti ng  
%

Member 25/5/2009 18/8/2009 26/11/2009 24/02/2010   of Att endance 

Mr Lee Yu-Jin √ √ √ √ 100

Encik Aminuddin Yusof Lana  √ √ √ √ 100

Encik Mohtar Bin Abdullah √ √ √ √ 100  
   

The Executi ve Directors, Financial Controller and Internal Audit Consultants were usually invited to att end the 
Maica Audit Committ ee meeti ngs for briefi ng on the acti viti es involving their areas of responsibiliti es. The Maica 
Audit Committ ee was also briefed by the external auditors on their annual audit fi ndings and new provisions 
introduced by the Malaysian Accounti ng Standards Board (“MASB”), where applicable.

During the 2010 fi nancial year, the Audit Committ ee met with the external auditors twice without the presence of 
the Executi ve Directors and key management. 

The proceedings and conclusions of each Maica Audit Committ ee meeti ng were documented and distributed to 
each member of the Audit Committ ee and also to the other Board members.

ACTIVITIES OF THE COMMITTEE

During the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2010, the acti viti es carried out by the Audit Committ ee included, among 
others, the following:-

a. Reviewed the unaudited quarterly reports on the consolidated results and fi nancial statements prior to tabling 
of the same to the Board of Directors.

b. Reviewed the year-end fi nancial statements of the Company and the Group, prior to their adopti on by the 
Board, focusing on :-

i) changes in or implementati on of major accounti ng policies, if any
ii) signifi cant and unusual events, if any
iii) compliance with Main Market LR, provisions of the Companies Act, 1965 and the applicable approved 

fi nancial reporti ng standards set by the MASB.

c. Reviewed the Group’s Budget for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2010.

d. Reviewed the quarterly performance of the Group’s wood-based division and hire purchase business 
individually.

e. Reviewed quarterly the record on the Group’s Recurrent Related Party Transacti ons.

f. Reviewed the Audit Review Memorandum prepared by the external auditors which comprised the signifi cant 
audit matt ers for att enti on for the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2009.

g. Reviewed the Audit Planning Memorandum prepared by the external auditors for the fi nancial year ended 31 
March 2010.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
(cont’d)

ACTIVITIES OF THE COMMITTEE (cont’d) 

h. Reviewed the internal audit reports which covered the following aspects :

• follow-up audit review in respect of the Group’s associate company to assess the status of the acti on 
plans implemented by the said associate company;

• the Group’s Hire Purchase financing business which outlined risks/weaknesses identified, 
recommendati ons towards correcti ng the areas of concern and made suitable recommendati ons to the 
Board for approval; and

• Business Risk Profi le IV and the Audit Plan.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION

The Group has outsourced its internal audit functi on to external consultants. The principal objecti ve of the internal 
audit functi on is to assist the Board of Directors of Maica in maintaining a sound system of internal controls within 
the Group in order to safeguard the shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets. The internal audit functi on 
reports directly to the Maica Audit Committ ee. 

The internal audit functi on assists the Management to identi fy, evaluate and update signifi cant risks and develop 
risks based audit plans for approval by the Audit Committ ee. The scope of the internal audit functi on covers the 
audits of all units and operati ons of the Group.

The total cost incurred for the internal audit functi on of the Group in respect of the fi nancial year ended 31 March 
2010 amounted to RM40,000. A summary of the acti viti es performed by the internal audit functi on during the 
fi nancial year is set out in the Internal Control Statement in pages 23 and 24 of this Annual Report. 
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INTERNAL CONTROL STATEMENT

The Board of Malaysia Aica Berhad is committ ed to conti nuously improve the Group’s system of internal controls 
and is pleased to present the following Statement on Internal Control pursuant to the Main Market Listi ng 
Requirements and the Statement on Internal Control: Guidance For Directors of Public Listed Companies.

1. Board’s Responsibility
 
 The Board recognizes the importance of sound controls and risk management practi ces to good corporate 

governance. The Board affi  rms its overall responsibiliti es for the Group’s system of internal control and risk 
management, which includes reviewing its eff ecti veness, adequacy and integrity. However, the Board is 
equally aware that due to the limitati ons that are inherent in any system of internal controls, the system is 
only designed to manage rather than totally eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objecti ves. In 
this regard, the system can provide only reasonable assurance, and not absolute assurance against material 
misstatement, loss or other signifi cantly adverse consequences. The system of internal controls covers 
fi nancial, operati onal and compliance controls and risk management procedures.

2. Key Elements of Internal Control

 Risk Management and Internal Audit
 
 The overall risk management practi ce of the Group involves an ongoing process designed to identi fy the 

principal risks to the achievement of the Group’s policies, goals and objecti ves; to evaluate the nature and 
extent of those risks and to manage them effi  ciently, eff ecti vely and economically.

 
 The Management with the assistance of the internal audit functi on regularly reviews the Group’s system of 

internal controls for its adequacy and eff ecti veness in managing key risks. The internal audit functi on focuses 
on areas of priority as set out in the business risk profi le of the Group. The updated business risk profi le of the 
Group was tabled and endorsed by the Board in August 2009.

 Where any signifi cant weaknesses have been identi fi ed, improvement measures are recommended to 
strengthen the controls.

 The heads of department are responsible for managing key risks applicable to their areas of business 
acti viti es on a conti nuous basis. Any operati onal matt ers and issues are regularly reviewed and resolved by 
the management team at management meeti ngs. Through these mechanisms, risks are identi fi ed in a ti mely 
manner, their implicati ons are assessed and control procedures are re-evaluated accordingly.

 During the fi nancial year under review, the internal audit functi on performed the following assignments:

• Follow up audit review on the profi tability and realizable value of inventories of its associate company, 
Mahakota Sdn Bhd.

• Reviewed and revised the business risk profi le of the Group.

• Reviewed the processes of the hire purchase business and internal control procedures for the Recurrent 
Related Party Transacti ons. 

 The internal audit reports were duly deliberated and endorsed by the Audit Committ ee.
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INTERNAL CONTROL STATEMENT

2. Key Elements of Internal Control (cont’d)

 Other Key Elements of Internal Controls
 
 Other key elements of the Group’s system of internal controls are as follows:-

• The Group has an appropriate organizati onal structure for planning, executi ng, controlling and monitoring 
business operati ons with clearly defi ned lines of responsibiliti es and delegati ons of authority.

• To ensure uniformity and consistency of practi ces and controls within the Group, certain key processes of 
the Group had been formalized and documented in the form of Standard Operati ng Procedures. All the 
Standard Operati ng Procedures were endorsed by both the Management and the Board. These include:

• Purchasing
• Stocks
• Sales and Marketi ng
• Human Resources
• Payment
• Fixed Assets Management
• Recurrent Related Party Transacti ons

 
 These Standard Operati ng Procedures are subject to review and improvement alongside the internal 

audit reviews of the selected areas of operati ons.

• The Group’s main manufacturing arm namely Maicador Sdn Bhd was on 15 January 2008 accredited with 
ISO9001: 2000 internati onal quality system standard. The ISO system provides the Group with improved 
control of key processes and a foundati on for improving quality and customer sati sfacti on. The policies 
and procedures are regularly updated to refl ect changes in the operati ons and business processes.

• Business units prepare an annual budget and present it to the Board for approval. Any variances of actual 
performance against budget are monitored and reported regularly. The results are consolidated and 
presented to the Board on a regular basis.

• Clearly defi ned authorizati on level for all aspects of the business. These authorizati on levels are formalized 
in the Group’s Standard Operati ng Procedures.

• As for the occupati onal safety and health, the Group has put in place the necessary safety guidelines 
among others, setti  ng up a safety committ ee to enhance the safety procedures and address all the safety 
issues which may arise from ti me to ti me.

• Regular internal audit visits which provide independent assurance on the eff ecti veness of the Group’s 
system of internal controls and advising Management on areas for improvement.

• The Audit Committ ee meets at least four ti mes a year to review the eff ecti veness of the Group’s system 
of the internal control. The Committ ee meets with the Internal Auditors to review their reports. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors hereby submit their report and the audited fi nancial statements of the Group and the Company for 
the fi nancial year ended 31 March 2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal acti viti es of the Company are the provision of management services and investment holding. The 
principal acti viti es of the subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 7 to the fi nancial statements. There have been no 
signifi cant changes in the nature of the principal acti viti es of the Group and the Company during the fi nancial 
year. 

RESULTS

  The Group The Company
  RM’000 RM’000

Net profi t for the fi nancial year att ributable to shareholders of the Company 1,909 451

DIVIDENDS

No dividends were proposed, declared or paid by the Company since the end of the previous fi nancial year.

RESERVES AND PROVISIONS

There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the fi nancial year apart from those 
disclosed in the fi nancial statements.

ISSUE OF SHARES OR DEBENTURES

There was no issue of shares or debentures by the Company during the fi nancial year.

OPTIONS GRANTED OVER UNISSUED SHARES

No share opti ons were granted by the Company during the fi nancial year.

BAD AND DOUBTFUL DEBTS

Before the fi nancial statements of the Group and the Company were made out, the directors took reasonable steps 
to ascertain that acti on had been taken in relati on to the writi ng off  of bad debts and the making of allowance 
for doubtf ul debts and sati sfi ed themselves that all known bad debts had been writt en off  and that adequate 
allowance had been made for doubtf ul debts.

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render the amount writt en 
off  for bad debts or the amount of the allowance made for doubtf ul debts inadequate to any substanti al extent.

CURRENT ASSETS

Before the fi nancial statements of the Group and the Company were made out, the directors took reasonable 
steps to ascertain whether any current assets, other than debts, were unlikely to realise in the ordinary course 
of business their values as shown in the accounti ng records of the Group and the Company and to the extent so 
ascertained were writt en down to an amount that they might be expected to realise.

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances that would render the values att ributed 
to the current assets in the fi nancial statements of the Group and the Company misleading.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
(cont’d)

VALUATION METHODS

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which render 
adherence to the existi ng methods of valuati on of assets or liabiliti es of the Group and the Company misleading 
or inappropriate.

CONTINGENT AND OTHER LIABILITIES

At the date of this report, there does not exist:-

(i) any charge on the assets of the Group or the Company that has arisen since the end of the fi nancial year which 
secures the liabiliti es of any other person; or

(ii) any conti ngent liability in respect of the Group or the Company that has arisen since the end of the fi nancial 
year.

No conti ngent liability or other liability of the Group or the Company has become enforceable, or is likely to 
become enforceable within the period of twelve months aft er the end of the fi nancial year which, in the opinion 
of the directors, will or may substanti ally aff ect the ability of the Group and the Company to meet their obligati ons 
as and when they fall due.

CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances, not otherwise dealt with in this 
report or in the fi nancial statements of the Group and the Company, that would render any amount stated in the 
respecti ve fi nancial statements misleading.

ITEMS OF AN UNUSUAL NATURE

The results of the operati ons of the Group and the Company for the fi nancial year were not, in the opinion of the 
directors, substanti ally aff ected by any item, transacti on or event of a material and unusual nature.

There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the fi nancial year and the date of this report any item, 
transacti on or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors, to aff ect substanti ally 
the results of the operati ons of the Group or the Company for the fi nancial year in which this report is made.

DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY

The directors who served since the date of the last report are:-

Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Hua Choon
Lim Jian Hoo
Thor Poh Seng
Lee Yu-Jin
Aminuddin Yusof Lana
Mohtar Bin Abdullah

Parti culars of the interests in shares in the Company of the directors in offi  ce at the end of the fi nancial year, as 
shown in the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings, are as follows:-

   Number of Ordinary Shares of RM0.50 each
 Balance at    Balance at
Name of Director 1.4.2009 Bought Sold  31.3.2010
    
Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Hua Choon    

- Direct interest 22,641,985 0 0  22,641,985
- Deemed interest 0 16,091,400 0  16,091,400

By virtue of his interests in shares in the Company, Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Hua Choon is also deemed to have interests in 
shares in the subsidiaries to the extent of the Company’s interests, pursuant to Secti on 6A of the Companies Act 
1965.

Save as disclosed above, none of the other directors in offi  ce at the end of the fi nancial year held any interests in 
shares in the Company or its related corporati ons during the fi nancial year.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
(cont’d)

DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS

Since the end of the previous fi nancial year, no director of the Company has received or become enti tled to receive 
any benefi t (other than the directors’ remunerati on disclosed in the fi nancial statements) by reason of a contract 
made by the Company or a related corporati on with the director or with a fi rm of which the director is a member, 
or with a company in which the director has a substanti al fi nancial interest except for any benefi ts which may 
be deemed to have arisen by virtue of those related party transacti ons as disclosed in Note 24 to the fi nancial 
statements.

Neither during nor at the end of the fi nancial year, was the Company a party to any arrangement whose object is 
to enable the directors to acquire benefi ts by means of the acquisiti on of shares in or debentures of the Company 
or any other body corporate.

AUDITORS

The auditors, Messrs. Crowe Horwath (formerly known as Messrs. Horwath), have expressed their willingness to 
conti nue in offi  ce.

SIGNED IN ACCORDANCE WITH A RESOLUTION OF THE DIRECTORS
DATED 14 JUNE 2010

Lim Jian Hoo

Thor Poh Seng
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STATEMENT BY DIRECTORS

STATUTORY DECLARATION

We, Lim Jian Hoo and Thor Poh Seng, being two of the directors of Malaysia Aica Berhad, do hereby state that 
in the opinion of the directors, the fi nancial statements set out on pages 32 to 65 have been properly drawn up 
in accordance with Financial Reporti ng Standards and the Companies Act 1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true 
and fair view of the fi nancial positi on of the Group and the Company as at 31 March 2010 and of their fi nancial 
performance and cash fl ows for the fi nancial year then ended.

SIGNED IN ACCORDANCE WITH A RESOLUTION OF THE DIRECTORS
DATED 14 JUNE 2010

Lim Jian Hoo  Thor Poh Seng

I, Teoh Beng Chong, being the offi  cer primarily responsible for the fi nancial management of Malaysia Aica Berhad, 
do solemnly and sincerely declare that the fi nancial statements set out on pages 32 to 65 are, to the best of my 
knowledge and belief, correct and I make this solemn declarati on conscienti ously believing the same to be true, 
and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarati ons Act 1960.

Subscribed and solemnly declared by
Teoh Beng Chong at Georgetown in the 
State of Penang on this 14 June 2010  
                                                                                                                             Teoh Beng Chong

Before me

Karupayee Kamalam A/P R.Mott ai

Commissioner for Oaths
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
to the Members of Malaysia Aica Berhad (Incorporated in Malaysia) 
(Company No: 8235-K)

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the fi nancial statements of Malaysia Aica Berhad (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the 
Group”) set out on pages 32 to 65, which comprise the balance sheets as at 31 March 2010, and the income 
statements, statements of changes in equity and cash fl ow statements for the fi nancial year then ended, and a 
summary of signifi cant accounti ng policies and other explanatory notes. 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparati on and fair presentati on of these fi nancial statements 
in accordance with Financial Reporti ng Standards and the Companies Act 1965 in Malaysia (“the Act”). This 
responsibility includes: designing, implementi ng and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparati on and 
fair presentati on of fi nancial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; 
selecti ng and applying appropriate accounti ng policies; and making accounti ng esti mates that are reasonable in 
the circumstances.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these fi nancial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with approved standards on auditi ng in Malaysia. Those standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the fi nancial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
fi nancial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgement, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the fi nancial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the Company’s preparati on and fair presentati on of the 
fi nancial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the eff ecti veness of the Company’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluati ng the appropriateness of accounti ng policies used and the reasonableness of accounti ng esti mates made 
by the directors, as well as evaluati ng the overall presentati on of the fi nancial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi  cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the fi nancial statements have been properly drawn up in accordance with Financial Reporti ng 
Standards and the Act so as to give a true and fair view of the fi nancial positi on of the Group and the Company as 
at 31 March 2010 and of their fi nancial performance and cash fl ows for the fi nancial year then ended.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In accordance with the requirements of the Act, we also report the following:-

(i) In our opinion, the accounti ng and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the 
Company and the subsidiaries of which we have acted as auditors have been properly kept in accordance with 
the provisions of the Act.

(ii) We are sati sfi ed that the fi nancial statements of the subsidiaries that have been consolidated with the 
fi nancial statements of the Company are in form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of 
the preparati on of the consolidated fi nancial statements and we have received sati sfactory informati on and 
explanati ons required by us for those purposes.

(iii) The auditors’ reports on the fi nancial statements of the subsidiaries did not contain any qualifi cati on or any 
adverse comment made under Secti on 174(3) of the Act.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
to the Members of Malaysia Aica Berhad (Incorporated in Malaysia) 
(Company No: 8235-K) (cont’d)

Other Matt ers

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Secti on 174 of the Act 
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person for the content of this report.

Crowe Horwath  Eddy Chan Wai Hun
Firm No : AF 1018 Approval No : 2182/10/11 (J)
Chartered Accountants Chartered Accountant

Penang

14 June 2010
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  2010  2009
 Note RM’000  RM’000
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment  4  3,497  7,627
Investment property  5  5,685  1,881
Prepaid lease payments  6  2,817  2,865
Investment in associate  8  594  912
Other investments  9  25  25
Deferred tax assets  10  0  390
Receivables  11  39,386  52,676

  52,004  66,376

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories  12  2,983  2,737
Receivables  11  18,415  16,053
Prepayments   61  70
Current tax assets   118  107
Cash and cash equivalents  13  7,049  6,379

  28,626  25,346

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Payables  14  1,617  1,458
Loans and borrowings  15  11,801  25,401
Advance payments from customers   415  193
Reti rement benefi ts  16  4  8
Current tax liabiliti es   169  44

  14,006  27,104

NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)   14,620  (1,758)

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Deferred tax liabiliti es  10  14  0
Reti rement benefi ts  16  810  700

  824  700

NET ASSETS   65,800  63,918

FINANCED BY:-
Share capital  17  65,180  65,180
Reserves  18  595  (1,288)

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY   65,775  63,892
Minority interest   25  26

TOTAL EQUITY   65,800  63,918

The annexed notes form an integral part of these fi nancial statements.                                                          

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
as at 31 March 2010
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  2010  2009
 Note RM’000  RM’000

Revenue 19 19,312 20,038

Cost of sales  (11,983) (13,848)
    
Gross profi t  7,329 6,190
    
Other income  317 270
    
Administrati ve and general expenses  (3,880) (3,771)
    
Selling and distributi on expenses  (279) (489)
    
Finance costs  (658) (490)
    
Share of results of associate  (43) (268)
    
Profi t before tax 20 2,786 1,442
    
Tax (expense)/income 22 (878) 379
    
Net profi t for the year  1,908 1,821
    

Att ributable to:-   

- Shareholders of the Company  1,909 1,823

- Minority interest  (1) (2)
 
  1,908 1,821
    
 
Basic and diluted earnings per share (sen) 23 1.46 1.40 
 
    

The annexed notes form an integral part of these fi nancial statements.                                                          

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
for the financial year ended 31 March 2010
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES 
IN EQUITY
for the financial year ended 31 March 2010

     Non-distributable      
 Share Share Revaluati on Capital Accumulated Shareholders’ Minority Total
 capital premium surplus reserve losses equity interest equity
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
        
Balance at  

1 April 2008 65,180 13,296 815 815 (18,011) 62,095 28 62,123 
      

Diluti on
arising from 
acquisiti on of 
shares from
minority 
shareholders 0 0 0 0 (26) (26) 0 (26) 
      

Net profi t/(loss)  
for the year  0 0 0 0 1,823 1,823 (2) 1,821 
      

Balance at        
31 March 2009 65,180 13,296 815 815 (16,214) 63,892 26 63,918

Diluti on
arising from 
acquisiti on of 
shares from
minority 
shareholders 0 0 0 0 (26) (26) 0 (26)

        
Net profi t/(loss)  
for the year 0 0 0 0 1,909 1,909 (1) 1,908
        
Balance at        
31 March 2010 65,180 13,296 815 815 (14,331) 65,775 25 65,800

The annexed notes form an integral part of these fi nancial statements.                                                          
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
for the financial year ended 31 March 2010

  2010  2009
 Note RM’000  RM’000 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
 
Granti ng of hire purchase fi nancing  (4,398) (73,762)
Cash receipts from customers  34,784 26,591
Cash payments to suppliers  (14,956) (15,633)

Cash generated from/(absorbed by) operati ons  15,430 (62,804)
    
Interest paid  (798) (339)
Reti rement benefi ts paid  (52) (159)
Tax paid  (360) (102)

Net cash from/(used in) operati ng acti viti es  14,220 (63,404)
    
  
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
 
Acquisiti on of shares from minority shareholders  (26) (26)
Interest received  110 499
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  271 71
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (445) (123)

Net cash (used in)/from investi ng acti viti es  (90) 421
    
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITY    
 
(Decrease)/Increase in loans and borrowings (net)  (13,460) 24,750

Net cash (used in)/from fi nancing acti vity  (13,460) 24,750
    
 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  670 (38,233)
    
 
Cash and cash equivalents brought forward  6,379   44,612 
    
 
Cash and cash equivalents carried forward 13  7,049   6,379 

The annexed notes form an integral part of these fi nancial statements.                                                          
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  2010  2009
 Note RM’000  RM’000 
 
NON-CURRENT ASSETS     
Property, plant and equipment 4 322 223
Investment property 5 1,393 1,421
Prepaid lease payments 6 612 622
Investment in subsidiaries 7 41,043 41,017
Investment in associate 8 594 672
Other investments 9 0 0

  43,964 43,955
    
CURRENT ASSETS    
Receivables 11 25,504 25,049
Current tax assets  70 67
Cash and cash equivalents 13 1,515 1,539

  27,089 26,655

CURRENT LIABILITIES   
Payables 14 91 127

  91 127

NET CURRENT ASSETS  26,998 26,528
    
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES    
Reti rement benefi ts 16 173 145
    
NET ASSETS  70,789 70,338
    
FINANCED BY:-   
Share capital 17 65,180 65,180
Reserves 18 5,609 5,158

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY  70,789 70,338
    
 

The annexed notes form an integral part of these fi nancial statements.                                                          

BALANCE SHEET
as at 31 March 2010
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  2010  2009
 Note RM’000  RM’000 
 
Revenue 19 1,610 736
    
Other income  84 0
    
Administrati ve and general expenses  (1,243) (1,363)
 
Profi t/(Loss) before tax 20 451 (627)
 
Tax expense 22 0 (5)
 
Net profi t/(loss) for the year  451 (632)
    
 

The annexed notes form an integral part of these fi nancial statements.                                                          

INCOME STATEMENT
for the financial year ended 31 March 2010
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                    Non-distributable    

 Share  Share Capital Accumulated 
 capital premium reserve losses Total 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Balance at 1 April 2008 65,180 13,296 1,800 (9,306) 70,970 
     
Net loss for the year 0 0 0 (632) (632) 

Balance at 31 March 2009 65,180 13,296 1,800 (9,938) 70,338 

Net profi t for the year 0 0 0 451 451 

Balance at 31 March 2010 65,180 13,296 1,800 (9,487) 70,789 

    
    
   
    
 

The annexed notes form an integral part of these fi nancial statements.                                                          

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the financial year ended 31 March 2010
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT
for the financial year ended 31 March 2010

  2010  2009
 Note RM’000  RM’000 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
Cash receipts from customers  366 390
Cash payments to suppliers  (1,113) (1,307)

Cash absorbed by operati ons  (747) (917)
    
Tax paid  (3) (95)

Net cash used in operati ng acti viti es  (750) (1,012)
    
 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
Acquisiti on of shares from minority shareholders  (26) (26)
Advance to a subsidiary  0 (39,988)
Interest received  28 405
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  40 0
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (116) (5)
Repayment from subsidiaries  800 1,497

Net cash from/(used in) investi ng acti viti es  726 (38,117)
    
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (24) (39,129)
    
Cash and cash equivalents brought forward   1,539   40,668 
 
Cash and cash equivalents carried forward 13  1,515   1,539 
    
 

The annexed notes form an integral part of these fi nancial statements.                                                          
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2010

1. GENERAL INFORMATION 

 The Company is a public company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia and listed on the 
Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securiti es Berhad.

 The principal acti viti es of the Company are the provision of management services and investment holding. 
The principal acti viti es of the subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 7 to the fi nancial statements.

 The registered offi  ce of the Company is located at 8-3, Jalan Segambut, 51200 Kuala Lumpur and its principal 
place of business is located at 5100A, Lorong Mak Mandin 5, Mak Mandin Industrial Estate, 13400 Butt erworth, 
Penang.

 The consolidated fi nancial statements set out on pages 8 to 11 together with the notes thereto cover the 
Company and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) and the Group’s interest in an associate. The separate fi nancial 
statements of the Company set out on pages 36 to 39 together with the notes thereto cover the Company 
solely.

 The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors in  
accordance with a resoluti on of the directors dated 14 June 2010.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of Preparati on of Financial Statements

 The fi nancial statements of the Group and the Company are prepared under the historical cost 
conventi on, modifi ed to include other bases of measurement as disclosed in other secti ons of the 
signifi cant accounti ng policies, and in accordance with Financial Reporti ng Standards (“FRSs”) and the 
Companies Act 1965 in Malaysia.

  
 The fi nancial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (RM) and all values are rounded to the 

nearest thousand (RM’000) except when otherwise indicated.

 The Group and the Company have not applied the following FRSs and IC Interpretati ons which have 
been issued as at the balance sheet date but are not yet eff ecti ve:-

   Eff ecti ve for 
   fi nancial periods 
   beginning on or

 Standard/Interpretati on  aft er
 
 Amendments to FRS 1 First-ti me Adopti on of Financial Reporti ng  1 January 2010

 Standards and FRS 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
 Statements: Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled 
 Enti ty or Associate 

 Amendment to FRS 1 Limited Exempti on from Comparati ve FRS 7  1 January 2011
 Disclosures for First-ti me Adopters 

 Amendments to FRS 2 Share-based Payment: Vesti ng Conditi ons and Cancellati ons 1 January 2010
 Amendments to FRS 2 Share-based Payment 1 July 2010
 Amendments to FRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Disconti nued Operati ons 1 July 2010
 Amendments to FRS 7 Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments  1 January 2011
 Amendments to FRS 132 Financial Instruments: Presentati on 1 January 2010/
  1 March 2010
 Amendments to FRS 138 Intangible Assets 1 July 2010
 Amendments to FRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recogniti on and Measurement,  1 January 2010

 FRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures and IC Interpretati on 9 Reassessment 
 of Embedded Derivati ves  

 Amendments to FRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recogniti on and Measurement 1 January 2010
 Amendments to IC Interpretati on 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivati ves 1 July 2010
 Amendments to FRSs contained in the document enti tled  1 January 2010

 “Improvements to FRSs (2009)”
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2010 (cont’d)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

2.1 Basis of Preparati on of Financial Statements (cont’d)

   Eff ecti ve for 
   fi nancial periods 
   beginning on or

 Standard/Interpretati on  aft er
  
 FRS 1 First-ti me Adopti on of Financial Reporti ng Standards (revised in 2010) 1 July 2010
 FRS 3 Business Combinati ons (revised in 2010) 1 July 2010
 FRS 4 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2010
 FRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 1 January 2010
 FRS 8 Operati ng Segments 1 July 2009
 FRS 101 Presentati on of Financial Statements (revised in 2009) 1 January 2010
 FRS 123 Borrowing Costs 1 January 2010
 FRS 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (revised in 2010) 1 July 2010
 FRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recogniti on and Measurement 1 January 2010
 IC Interpretati on 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivati ves 1 January 2010
 IC Interpretati on 10 Interim Financial Reporti ng and Impairment 1 January 2010
 IC Interpretati on 11 FRS 2 - Group and Treasury Share Transacti ons 1 January 2010
 IC Interpretati on 12 Service Concession Arrangements 1 July 2010
 IC Interpretati on 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes 1 January 2010
 IC Interpretati on 14 FRS 119 - The Limit on a Defi ned Benefi t Asset, 1 January 2010

 Minimum Funding Requirements and their Interacti on 
 IC Interpretati on 15 Agreements for the Constructi on of Real Estate 1 July 2010
 IC Interpretati on 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operati on 1 July 2010
 IC Interpretati on 17 Distributi ons of Non-cash Assets to Owners 1 July 2010
 

 The management foresees that the initi al applicati on of the above FRSs and IC Interpretati ons will not 
have any signifi cant impacts on the fi nancial statements except as follows:- 

 Amendments to FRS 117 Leases

 Included in Improvements to FRSs (2009) are amendments to FRS 117 which clarify that the classifi cati on 
of leasehold land as a fi nance lease or an operati ng lease shall be based on the extent to which risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership lie. In accordance with the transiti onal provisions of the amendments, 
the Group and the Company will reassess the classifi cati on of leasehold land on the eff ecti ve date and 
make the necessary reclassifi cati on, if any, retrospecti vely.

 FRS 3 Business Combinati ons (revised in 2010)

 FRS 3 (revised in 2010), which supersedes FRS 3 Business Combinati ons (issued in 2005), introduces 
signifi cant changes to the accounti ng for business combinati ons, both at the acquisiti on date and post 
acquisiti on, and requires greater use of fair values. In additi on, all acquisiti on-related costs, other 
than the costs to issue debt or equity securiti es, shall be expensed as incurred. In accordance with 
the transiti onal provisions of FRS 3 (revised in 2010), the Group and the Company will apply this FRS 
prospecti vely to business combinati ons for which the acquisiti on date is on or aft er the eff ecti ve date.

 FRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures and FRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recogniti on and 
Measurement

 By virtue of the exempti ons given by FRS 7 and FRS 139, the impacts on the fi nancial statements upon 
initi al applicati on of these FRSs (and the amendments thereto) are not disclosed. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2010 (cont’d)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

2.1 Basis of Preparati on of Financial Statements (cont’d)

 FRS 101 Presentati on of Financial Statements (revised in 2009)

 FRS 101 (revised in 2009), which supersedes FRS 101 Presentati on of Financial Statements (revised in 
2005), aff ects the presentati on of owner changes in equity and comprehensive income. It requires an 
enti ty to present all owner changes in equity in a statement of changes in equity. All non-owner changes 
in equity (i.e. comprehensive income) are required to be presented in one statement of comprehensive 
income or two statements (a separate income statement and a statement of comprehensive income). 
FRS 101 (revised in 2009) also changes the ti tles of the fi nancial statements to refl ect their functi on more 
closely, for example, the ti tles “balance sheet” and “cash fl ow statement” are renamed as “statement of 
fi nancial positi on” and “statement of cash fl ows” respecti vely.  

 FRS 123 Borrowing Costs

 FRS 123, which supersedes FRS 1232004 Borrowing Costs, removes the opti on of immediately recognising 
as an expense borrowing costs that are directly att ributable to the acquisiti on, constructi on or producti on 
of a qualifying asset. In accordance with the transiti onal provisions of FRS 123, the Group and the 
Company will apply this FRS prospecti vely to borrowing costs relati ng to qualifying assets for which the 
commencement date for capitalisati on is on or aft er the eff ecti ve date. 

 FRS 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (revised in 2010)

 FRS 127 (revised in 2010), which supersedes FRS 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 
(revised in 2005), requires the total comprehensive income of a subsidiary to be att ributed to the owners 
of the parent and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having 
a defi cit balance. The revised standard also requires the changes in a parent’s ownership interest in a 
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control to be accounted for as equity transacti ons. In accordance 
with the transiti onal provisions of FRS 127 (revised in 2010), the aforementi oned amendments will be 
applied prospecti vely.

2.2 Basis of Consolidati on

 A subsidiary is an enti ty that is controlled by the Group. Control is the power to govern the fi nancial and 
operati ng policies of the enti ty so as to obtain benefi ts from its acti viti es.

 The consolidated fi nancial statements incorporate the fi nancial statements of the Company and its 
subsidiaries made up to the end of the fi nancial year using the purchase method. The results of the 
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the fi nancial year are included in the consolidated fi nancial 
statements from the date of acquisiti on or up to the date of disposal. Intragroup balances, transacti ons, 
income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidati on.

 The excess of the cost of acquisiti on over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identi fi able 
assets, liabiliti es and conti ngent liabiliti es of the subsidiary acquired at the acquisiti on date represents 
goodwill. Goodwill is recognised as an asset at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. When 
the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identi fi able assets, liabiliti es and conti ngent liabiliti es of 
the subsidiary acquired at the acquisiti on date exceeds the cost of acquisiti on, the excess (hereinaft er 
referred to as “negati ve goodwill”), aft er reassessment, is recognised in the income statement.

2.3 Associate

 An associate is an enti ty, other than a subsidiary or a joint venture, over which the Group has signifi cant 
infl uence. Signifi cant infl uence is the power to parti cipate in the fi nancial and operati ng policy decisions 
of the enti ty but is not control or joint control over those policies.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2010 (cont’d)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

2.3 Associate (cont’d)

 In the consolidated fi nancial statements, investment in associate is accounted for using the equity 
method. Under the equity method, the investment in associate is initi ally recognised at cost and the 
carrying amount is subsequently adjusted to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisiti on profi t 
or loss and other changes in equity of the associate. Aft er applicati on of the equity method, the carrying 
amount of the investment is subject to further impairment assessment.

2.4 Financial Instruments

 Recognised Financial Instruments

 The accounti ng policies for recognised fi nancial instruments are disclosed in the individual policies 
associated with each item.

 Unrecognised Financial Instruments

 The Group and the Company do not have any unrecognised fi nancial instruments other than the fi nancial 
guarantees as disclosed in Note 26 to the fi nancial statements.

 Fair Values

 The carrying amounts of fi nancial assets and liabiliti es with short maturity periods are assumed to 
approximate their fair values.

 The fair values of long-term hire purchase receivables are esti mated based on the current market rates 
off ered for similar hire purchase arrangements.

 The fair values of fi nancial guarantees granted by the Company are not expected to be material as the 
probability of the subsidiaries defaulti ng on the credit lines is remote.

2.5 Property, Plant and Equipment

 Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or at valuati on less accumulated depreciati on and 
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

 The last revaluati ons of certain buildings and plant and machinery were made in 1983 and 1986 
respecti vely and have not been updated. The Group has followed the transiti onal provisions of IAS16 
(Revised) Property, Plant and Equipment issued by the Malaysian Accounti ng Standards Board to retain 
the carrying amounts of the assets on the basis of their previous revaluati on subject to conti nuity in 
their depreciati on and impairment policies.

 A revaluati on increase is credited to equity as revaluati on surplus or recognised as income in the income 
statement to the extent that the increase reverses a revaluati on decrease of the same asset previously 
recognised as an expense. A revaluati on decrease is recognised as an expense in the income statement 
or debited against any related revaluati on surplus to the extent that the decrease does not exceed the 
amount held in the revaluati on surplus of that asset.

 Property, plant and equipment, except for spare parts and loose tools, are depreciated on a straight-line 
basis over the esti mated useful lives of the assets using the following annual rates:-

 Buildings 2%
 Plant and machinery 5-10%
 Furniture, fi tti  ngs and equipment 10-25%
 Motor vehicles  20%

 Initi al purchases of spare parts and loose tools have been capitalised and depreciated at annual rates 
ranging from 20% to 100%. Subsequent purchases of such items have been charged out directly to the 
income statement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2010 (cont’d)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

2.5 Property, Plant and Equipment (cont’d)

 The residual value, useful life and depreciati on method of an asset are reviewed at least at each balance sheet 
date and any changes in expectati ons from previous esti mates are accounted for prospecti vely as changes in 
accounti ng esti mates.

2.6 Investment Property

 Investment property, being a property held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciati on, is stated at cost 
less accumulated depreciati on and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

 The last revaluati ons of certain freehold land and buildings previously classifi ed as property, plant and 
equipment were made in 1981 and have not been updated. The Group and the Company have followed the 
transiti onal provisions of IAS 16 (Revised) Property, Plant and Equipment issued by the Malaysian Accounti ng 
Standards Board to retain the carrying amounts of the assets on the basis of their previous revaluati on subject 
to conti nuity in their depreciati on and impairment policies.

 
 Freehold land is not depreciated. Buildings are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their esti mated useful 

lives of 50 years.

2.7 Prepaid Lease Payments

 The upfront payments for a lease of land under an operati ng lease are classifi ed as prepaid lease payments 
and amorti sed on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

2.8 Investments

 Subsidiaries and Associate

 As required by the Companies Act 1965, the Company prepares separate fi nancial statements in additi on to 
the consolidated fi nancial statements. In the separate fi nancial statements of the Company, investments in 
subsidiaries and associate are stated at cost less impairment losses, if any. 

 Other Investments

 Other long-term investments are stated at cost. An allowance for diminuti on in value is made when there is a 
decline other than temporary in the value of the investment. The decline is recognised as an expense in the 
period in which it is identi fi ed.

2.9 Impairment of Assets

 The carrying amounts of assets, other than deferred tax assets, inventories and fi nancial assets within the 
scope of FRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recogniti on and Measurement, are reviewed at each balance sheet 
date to determine whether there is any indicati on that an item of asset may be impaired. If any such indicati on 
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in 
use, is esti mated. Any excess of the carrying amount of the asset over its recoverable amount represents an 
impairment loss and is recognised as an expense in the income statement or, in respect of a revalued asset, 
treated as a revaluati on decrease.

 An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the esti mates used to determine the recoverable 
amount and it is reversed only to the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciati on or amorti sati on, had no impairment loss been 
recognised. The reversal is recognised in the income statement or, in respect of a revalued asset, treated as 
a revaluati on increase.

2.10 Inventories

 Inventories are valued at the lower of cost (determined principally on the weighted average basis) and net 
realisable value. Cost consists of all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing 
the inventories to their present locati on and conditi on. Net realisable value is the esti mated selling price 
in the ordinary course of business less the esti mated costs of completi on and costs necessary to make the 
sale.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2010 (cont’d)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

2.11 Receivables

 Hire purchase receivables are initi ally recognised as an asset at an amount equal to the principal 
fi nanced. The minimum hire purchase payments are subsequently apporti oned between the fi nance 
income and the reducti on of the outstanding asset so as to produce a constant periodic rate of return 
on the remaining balance of the asset.

 All outstanding receivables are carried at anti cipated realisable values aft er the assessment of bad and 
doubtf ul debts at each balance sheet date.

2.12 Payables

 Payables are recognised at cost which is the fair value of the considerati on to be paid in the future for 
goods and services received.

2.13 Loans and Borrowings

 All loans and borrowings are initi ally recognised at cost which is the fair value of the proceeds received. 
The loans and borrowings are subsequently stated at amorti sed cost using the eff ecti ve interest method. 
The eff ecti ve interest rate is the historical rate for a fi xed rate instrument and the current market rate for 
a fl oati ng rate instrument. 

 
 All borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

2.14 Foreign Currency Transacti ons and Translati on

 The consolidated fi nancial statements and separate fi nancial statements of the Company are presented 
in Ringgit Malaysia, which is also the Company’s functi onal currency, being the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the enti ty operates. Items included in the fi nancial statements of each 
individual enti ty within the Group are measured using the individual enti ty’s own functi onal currency.

 A foreign currency transacti on is recorded in the functi onal currency using the exchange rate at 
transacti on date. At the balance sheet date, foreign currency monetary items are translated into the 
functi onal currency using the closing rate. Foreign currency non-monetary items measured at cost 
are translated using the exchange rate at transacti on date whereas those measured at fair value are 
translated using the exchange rate at valuati on date. Exchange diff erences arising from the sett lement 
or translati on of monetary items are recognised in the income statement. Any exchange component of 
the gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised on the same basis as that of the gain or loss, i.e. 
directly in equity or in the income statement. 

2.15 Share Capital

 Ordinary shares are classifi ed as equity. Transacti on costs that relate to the issue of new shares are 
accounted for as a deducti on from equity.

 Dividends on shares declared and unpaid at the balance sheet date are recognised as a liability whereas 
dividends proposed or declared aft er the balance sheet date are disclosed by way of note to the fi nancial 
statements.

2.16 Income Recogniti on

 Income from the sale of goods is recognised when the signifi cant risks and rewards of ownership have 
been transferred to the buyer.

 Income from the rendering of services is recognised when the services are performed.

 Dividend income is recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is established.

 Interest income is recognised using the eff ecti ve interest method.

 Rental income is recognised on an accrual basis.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2010 (cont’d)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

2.17 Income Taxes

 Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and deferred tax.

 Current tax represents the expected amount of income taxes payable in respect of the taxable profi t for 
the year and is measured using the tax rates that have been enacted or substanti vely enacted by the 
balance sheet date.

 Deferred tax is provided for under the balance sheet liability method in respect of all temporary diff erences 
between the carrying amount of an asset or liability in the balance sheet and its tax base except for 
those temporary diff erences associated with goodwill, negati ve goodwill or the initi al recogniti on of an 
asset or liability in a transacti on which is not a business combinati on and aff ects neither accounti ng nor 
taxable results at the ti me of the transacti on.

 
 A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary diff erences whereas a deferred tax asset 

is recognised for all deducti ble temporary diff erences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits to 
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profi t will be available against which the deducti ble 
temporary diff erences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be uti lised. Deferred tax assets 
and liabiliti es are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is 
realised or the liability is sett led, based on the tax rates that have been enacted or substanti vely enacted 
by the balance sheet date.

2.18 Employee Benefi ts

 Short-term Employee Benefi ts

 Short-term employee benefi ts such as wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributi ons 
are recognised as an expense in the period in which the associated services are rendered by the 
employees.

 Defi ned Contributi on Plan

 As required by law, employers in Malaysia make contributi ons to the state pension scheme, Employees 
Provident Fund (“EPF”). Such contributi ons are recognised as an expense in the period in which the 
associated services are rendered by the employees.

 Defi ned Benefi t Plan

 The Group and the Company operate an unfunded fi nal salary defi ned benefi t plan for their employees. 
The liability in respect of the defi ned benefi t plan is the present value of the defi ned benefi t obligati ons 
at the balance sheet date adjusted for actuarial gains/losses and past service cost. The defi ned benefi t 
obligati ons are assessed using the Projected Unit Credit Method. Under this method, the cost of 
providing defi ned benefi t obligati ons is charged to the income statement so as to spread the regular 
cost over the service lives of the employees in accordance with the advice of qualifi ed actuaries who 
carry out a full valuati on of the plan every three years. The Group and the Company determine the 
present value of defi ned benefi t obligati ons with suffi  cient regularity such that the amounts recognised 
in the fi nancial statements do not diff er materially from the amounts that would be determined at the 
balance sheet date. The last actuarial valuati on was carried out as at 31 March 2008.

 Actuarial gains and losses are recognised as income or expense over the expected average remaining 
service lives of the parti cipati ng employees when the net cumulati ve unrecognised actuarial gains and 
losses at the end of the previous reporti ng period exceeded the greater of 10% of the present value of 
the defi ned benefi t obligati ons and 10% of the fair value of any plan assets at that date.

 
 Terminati on Benefi ts

 Terminati on benefi ts are recognised as an expense when the Group is demonstrably committ ed to 
either terminate the employee’s employment before the normal reti rement date or provide terminati on 
benefi ts as a result of an off er made to encourage voluntary redundancy.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2010 (cont’d)

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’d)

2.19 Cash and Cash Equivalents

 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, bank balances, demand deposits, term deposits 
(including those pledged as security), bank overdraft s and short-term, highly liquid investments that are 
readily converti ble to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignifi cant risk of changes 
in value.

3. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

Criti cal Judgements

 In the process of applying the accounti ng policies of the Group and the Company, the management makes the 
following judgements that can signifi cantly aff ect the amounts recognised in the fi nancial statements:-

(i) Allowance for Inventories

 Reviews are made periodically by the management on inventories for excess inventories, obsolescence 
and decline in net realisable value below cost. These reviews require the use of judgements and 
esti mates. Possible changes in these esti mates could result in revisions to the valuati on of inventories. 

(ii) Allowance for Doubtf ul Debts

 The Group and the Company make allowance for doubtf ul debts based on an assessment of the 
recoverability of receivables. Allowance is applied to receivables where events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the balances may not be recoverable. The management specifi cally analyses historical bad 
debts, customer concentrati on, customer creditworthiness, current economic trends and changes in 
customer payment terms when making a judgement to evaluate the adequacy of the allowance for 
doubtf ul debts. Where expectati ons are diff erent from previous esti mates, the diff erence will impact on 
the carrying amounts of receivables.

Key Sources of Esti mati on Uncertainty

 The key assumpti ons concerning the future, and other key sources of esti mati on uncertainty at the balance 
sheet date, that have a signifi cant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabiliti es within the next fi nancial year are discussed below:-

(i) Depreciati on of Property, Plant and Equipment and Investment Property

 Property, plant and equipment and investment property are depreciated on a straight-line basis over 
the esti mated useful lives of the assets. The management esti mates the useful lives to be within 4 to 
50 years. Changes in the expected level of usage and technological development will impact on the 
economic useful lives and residual values of the assets and therefore, future depreciati on charges may 
be revised.

(ii) Impairment of Assets

 When the recoverable amount of an asset is determined based on its value in use, esti mates on future 
cash fl ows and appropriate discount rate are required to determine the present value of those cash 
fl ows.

(iii) Income Taxes 

 There are certain transacti ons and computati ons for which the ulti mate tax determinati on may be 
diff erent from the initi al esti mates. The Group and the Company recognise tax assets/liabiliti es based 
on their understanding of the prevailing tax laws and esti mates of whether such assets/liabiliti es will 
be realised/sett led in the ordinary course of business. Where the fi nal tax outcome of these matt ers is 
diff erent from the amounts initi ally recognised, the diff erence will impact on the tax recogniti on in the 
period in which the outcome is determined.

MALAYSIA AICA BERHAD  (8235-K)



48

4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The Group

    Furniture,  Spare  
  Plant and fi tti  ngs and Motor parts and  
 Buildings machinery equipment vehicles loose tools Total 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
       
AT COST/VALUATION       
Balance at 1 April 2008 9,354 23,061 3,472 750 65 36,702 
Additi ons 0 8 37 78 0 123

 Disposals 0 (770) 0 0 0 (770)

 Balance at 31 March 2009 9,354 22,299 3,509 828 65 36,055 
      

 Representi ng items:-      
 - At cost 8,282 22,239 3,509 828 65 34,923
 - At valuati on 1,072 60 0 0 0 1,132

  9,354 22,299 3,509 828 65 36,055 
      

 Balance at 1 April 2009 9,354 22,299 3,509 828 65 36,055 
Additi ons 0 0 4 441 0 445

 Disposals/Write-off s 0 (4,794) (765) (26) 0 (5,585)
 Transfer to investment      

   property (6,918) 0 0 0 0 (6,918)

 Balance at 31 March 2010 2,436 17,505 2,748 1,243 65 23,997 
      

 Representi ng items:-      
 - At cost 1,364 1 7,445 2,748 1,243 65 22,865
 - At valuati on 1,072 60 0 0 0 1,132

  2,436 17,505 2,748 1,243 65 23,997 
      

 
 DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT LOSSES      

Balance at 1 April 2008      
 - Accumulated depreciati on  3,840   19,186   3,176   586   65   26,853 
 - Accumulated impairment  0  1,542   156  0 0  1,698

 losses  
  3,840 20,728 3,332 586 65 28,551
 Depreciati on 187 355 26 79 0 647
 Disposals 0 (770) 0 0 0 (770)
 Balance at 31 March 2009      
 - Accumulated depreciati on 4,027 18,773 3,202 665 65 26,732
 - Accumulated impairment 0 1,540 156 0 0 1,696

 losses 
  4,027 20,313 3,358 665 65 28,428 

 Depreciati on 106 379 56 115 0 656
 Disposals/Write-off s 0 (4,793) (765) (26) 0 (5,584)
 Transfer to investment      
   property (3,000) 0 0 0 0 (3,000)
 Balance at 31 March 2010      
 - Accumulated depreciati on 1,133 14,383 2,499 754 65 18,834
 - Accumulated impairment 0 1,516 150 0 0 1,666

 losses 
  1,133 15,899 2,649 754 65 20,500

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2010 (cont’d)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2010 (cont’d)

4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont’d)

The Group (cont’d)

    Furniture,  Spare  
  Plant and fi tti  ngs and Motor parts and  
 Buildings machinery equipment vehicles loose tools Total 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
      

 CARRYING AMOUNT      
 Balance at 1 April 2008 5,514 2,333 140 164 0 8,151 

      
 Balance at 31 March 2009 5,327 1,986 151 163 0 7,627 

      
 Balance at 31 March 2010 1,303 1,606 99 489 0 3,497 

The Company

   Furniture,  
   fi tti  ngs and Motor 
  Buildings equipment vehicles Total
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
    
 AT COST    

Balance at 1 April 2008 317 502 166 985
Additi ons 0 5 0 5

Balance at 31 March 2009 317 507 166 990
Additi ons 0 0 116 116
Disposals 0 0 (163) (163)

Balance at 31 March 2010 317 507 119 943
    
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION    
Balance at 1 April 2008 100 492 165 757
Depreciati on 6 3 1 10

Balance at 31 March 2009 106 495 166 767
Depreciati on 8 2 7 17
Disposals 0 0 (163) (163)

Balance at 31 March 2010 114 497 10 621
    
CARRYING AMOUNT    
Balance at 1 April 2008 217 10 1 228
    
Balance at 31 March 2009 211 12 0 223
    
Balance at 31 March 2010 203 10 109 322

The buildings stated at valuati on were revalued by the directors based on valuati ons carried out in 1983 by 
independent professional valuers. The plant and machinery stated at valuati on were revalued by the directors 
in 1986. Subsequent additi ons are shown at cost while disposals are at valuati on or at cost as appropriate. 
Had the buildings and plant and machinery been stated in the fi nancial statements at cost less accumulated 
depreciati on, the carrying amounts would be RM318,000 and NIL (2009 : RM336,000 and NIL) respecti vely.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2010 (cont’d)

5. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

The Group

   
   Freehold   

  land Buildings Total 
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

    
 AT COST/VALUATION    

Balance at 1 April 2008  944 1,652 2,596
Movement during the year  0 0 0

Balance at 31 March 2009  944 1,652 2,596 
    

Representi ng items:-    
- At cost  594 1,309 1,903
- At valuati on  350 343 693 

  944 1,652 2,596 
    

Balance at 1 April 2009  944 1,652 2,596
Transfer from property, plant and equipment  0 6,918 6,918

Balance at 31 March 2010  944 8,570 9,514
    
Representi ng items:-    
- At cost  594 8,227 8,821
- At valuati on  350 343 693

   944 8,570 9,514 
    

 ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION    
Balance at 1 April 2008  0 682 682
Depreciati on  0 33 33

Balance at 31 March 2009  0 715 715
Transfer from property, plant and equipment  0 3,000 3,000
Depreciati on  0 114 114

Balance at 31 March 2010  0 3,829 3,829 
    

 CARRYING AMOUNT    
Balance at 1 April 2008  944 970 1,914 

    
Balance at 31 March 2009  944 937 1,881
    
Balance at 31 March 2010  944 4,741 5,685
    

 FAIR VALUE    
Esti mated fair value at 31 March 2009    4,990 

    
Esti mated fair value at 31 March 2010    11,275
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2010 (cont’d)

5. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (cont’d)

The Company
   
   Freehold   

  land Buildings Total 
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000

    
 AT COST/VALUATION   

Balance at 1 April 2008  594 1,402 1,996
Movement during the year  0 0 0

Balance at 31 March 2009  594 1,402 1,996
   
Representi ng items:-   
- At cost  594 1,309 1,903
- At valuati on  0 93 93

   594 1,402 1,996
   
Balance at 1 April 2009  594 1,402 1,996
Movement during the year  0 0 0

Balance at 31 March 2010  594 1,402 1,996
   
Representi ng items:-   
- At cost  594 1,309 1,903
- At valuati on  0 93 93

   594 1,402 1,996
   
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION   
Balance at 1 April 2008  0 547 547
Depreciati on  0 28 28

Balance at 31 March 2009  0 575 575
Depreciati on  0 28 28

Balance at 31 March 2010  0 603 603
   
CARRYING AMOUNT   
Balance at 1 April 2008  594 855 1,449
   
Balance at 31 March 2009  594 827 1,421
   
Balance at 31 March 2010  594 799 1,393
    
FAIR VALUE   
Esti mated fair value at 31 March 2009    4,240
   
Esti mated fair value at 31 March 2010    4,240
 

 
 The fair value of investment property was determined based on management’s esti mate by reference to 

market informati on.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2010 (cont’d)

6. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS
    
   Short-term Long-term 
   leasehold land leasehold land Total
   RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

   
The Group    
    
AT COST    
Balance at 1 April 2008  652 3,159 3,811
Movement during the year  0 0 0

Balance at 31 March 2009  652 3,159 3,811
Movement during the year  0 0 0

Balance at 31 March 2010  652 3,159 3,811 
   

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION    
Balance at 1 April 2008  283 616 899
Amorti sati on  11 36 47

Balance at 31 March 2009  294 652 946
Amorti sati on  11 37 48

Balance at 31 March 2010  305 689 994 

    
CARRYING AMOUNT    
Balance at 1 April 2008  369 2,543 2,912 

    
Balance at 31 March 2009  358 2,507 2,865 

   
Balance at 31 March 2010  347 2,470 2,817 

    
The Company    
    
AT COST    
Balance at 1 April 2008  0 873 873
Movement during the year  0 0 0

Balance at 31 March 2009  0 873 873
Movement during the year  0 0 0

Balance at 31 March 2010  0 873 873 
    

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION    
Balance at 1 April 2008  0 241 241
Amorti sati on  0 10 10

Balance at 31 March 2009  0 251 251
Amorti sati on  0 10 10

Balance at 31 March 2010  0 261 261 
    

CARRYING AMOUNT    
Balance at 1 April 2008  0 632 632 

  
Balance at 31 March 2009  0 622 622
     
Balance at 31 March 2010  0 612 612 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2010 (cont’d)

7. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

The Company   
  
  2010 2009
  RM’000 RM’000
   
 Unquoted ordinary shares - at cost 19,124 19,528
 Unquoted preference shares - at cost 40,000 40,000
  59,124 59,528
 Impairment losses (18,081) (18,511)
  41,043 41,017

The details of the subsidiaries, all of which were incorporated in Malaysia, are as follows:-

        Ownership Interest Held
Name of Subsidiary 2010 2009  Principal Acti vity
   
Maica Wood Industries Sdn. Bhd. 99.8% 81.8% Investment holding
   
Consolidated Leasing (M) Sdn. Bhd. 100% 100% Investment holding and 
   granti ng of lease and hire   
   purchase fi nancing
   
Pinaremas Sdn. Bhd. 100% 100% Investment holding
   
Malaysia Aica Foods Sdn. Bhd.* 0% 100% Investment holding
   
Ambang Arena Sdn. Bhd. 100% 100% Trading of sawn ti mber
   

Subsidiary of Maica Wood Industries Sdn. Bhd.
   
Maicador Sdn. Bhd. 99.8% 81.8% Manufacture of prefabricated  

   doors and door frames

Subsidiaries of Consolidated Leasing (M) Sdn. Bhd.
   
Consolidated Factoring (M) Sdn. Bhd. 91.9% 91.9% Factoring of debts
   
Mariti me Credits (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. 100% 100% Granti ng of commercial credits
   

Subsidiary of Malaysia Aica Foods Sdn. Bhd.
   
Suradamai Sdn. Bhd.* 0% 100% Dormant

* Struck off  pursuant to Secti on 308(4) of the Companies Act 1965
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2010 (cont’d)

8. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE

  The Group The Company
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
 
Unquoted shares - at cost 672 672 672 672
Impairment loss (275) 0 (78) 0
  397 672 594 672

Share of post-acquisiti on:-
- losses (516) (473)  
- revaluati on increase 713 713   

 594 912   
   

Represented by:-     
  

Share of net assets 1,170 1,213  
Discount on acquisiti on (301) (301)  
Impairment loss (275) 0  
  594 912
   

The details of the associate, which was incorporated in Malaysia, are as follows:-

   Ownership Interest Held
Name of Associate 2010 2009 Principal Acti vity
   
Mahakota Sdn. Bhd. 25.4% 25.4% Woodworks manufacturer and  

   dealer in ti mber and wood

The summarised fi nancial informati on of the associate is as follows:-

   2010 2009
   RM’000 RM’000
   
Total assets  9,687 9,927
Total liabiliti es  5,082 5,151
Revenue  7,509 8,291
Net loss for the year  (171) (1,055)
 

9. OTHER INVESTMENTS

  The Group The Company
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

     
 

Unquoted shares - at cost 90 90 90 90
Allowance for diminuti on in value  (90) (90) (90) (90) 

 0 0 0 0

Investment in club membership - at cost 25 25 0 0
  25 25 0 0
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10. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/(LIABILITIES)

The Group
    2010 2009
    RM’000 RM’000
   
Balance at 1 April   390 0
Deferred tax expense relati ng to originati on and 
 reversal of temporary diff erences   (3) (7)

Realisati on of deferred tax assets   (401) 0
Recogniti on of previously unrecognised deferred tax assets   0 397
Balance at 31 March   (14) 390

The deferred tax assets/(liabiliti es) are in respect of the following items:-

    2010 2009
    RM’000 RM’000
   
Unused tax losses   0 401
Taxable temporary diff erences of:-    
- property, plant and equipment   (11) (7)
- investment property   (3) (4)
    (14) 390

 Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2010, deferred tax liabiliti es and deferred tax assets have also eff ecti vely 
been recognised and off set against each other by the Group and the Company to the extent of approximately 
RM739,000 and RM10,000 (2009 : RM740,000 and RM2,000) respecti vely. No further deferred tax assets have 
been recognised for the excess of the deducti ble temporary diff erences, unused capital allowances and tax 
losses over the taxable temporary diff erences as follows:-

  The Group  The Company
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
      

 
Deducti ble temporary diff erences of:-    
- property, plant and equipment 73 0 0 0
- inventories 42 82 0 0
- receivables 5 17 0 0
- payables 69 312 42 42
- reti rement benefi ts 814 708 173 145
Unused capital allowances 19,966 20,663 798 756
Unused tax losses 34,891 34,956 73 102
Taxable temporary diff erences of:-    
- property, plant and equipment (2,161) (2,959) (40) (7)
- investment property (795) 0 0 0
  52,904 53,779 1,046 1,038
  

11. RECEIVABLES

  The Group  The Company
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
      

 
Amounts owing by subsidiaries 0 0 28,756 29,244
Allowance for doubtf ul debts 0 0 (3,300) (4,240)

  0 0 25,456 25,004

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2010 (cont’d)
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11. RECEIVABLES (cont’d)

  The Group The Company
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

 
Hire purchase receivables 56,317 66,978 0 0
Non-current porti on of hire purchase receivables (39,386) (52,676) 0 0
Current porti on of hire purchase receivables 16,931 14,302 0 0
      

 
Trade receivables 1,487 1,724 0 0
Allowance for doubtf ul debts (91) (103) 0 0
  1,396 1,621 0 0
      

 
Other receivables 88 160 48 45
Allowance for doubtf ul debts 0 (30) 0 0
  88 130 48 45 

 18,415 16,053 25,504 25,049

The amounts owing by subsidiaries are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. 

The credit terms of trade receivables range from 30 to 90 days.

Hire Purchase Receivables

 This represents hire purchase fi nancing granted to a company in which a director of the Company and his 
close family members have substanti al fi nancial interests. The eff ecti ve interest rates of the hire purchase 
receivables range from 6% to 7% (2009 : 7%) per annum. The repayment analysis is as follows:-

  The Group
    2010 2009
    RM’000 RM’000
   
Minimum hire purchase payments:-   
- not later than one year   20,386 18,778
- later than one year and not later than fi ve years   42,482 58,919
    62,868 77,697

Unearned fi nance income   (6,551) (10,719)
Present value of hire purchase receivables:-   
- not later than one year   16,931 14,302
- later than one year and not later than fi ve years   39,386 52,676
    56,317 66,978

12. INVENTORIES

The Group
    2010 2009
    RM’000 RM’000
   
Raw materials   1,910 1,621
Work-in-progress   417 359
Finished goods   299 215
Consumables   357 542
    2,983 2,737
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2010 (cont’d)

ANNUAL REPORT 2010



57

13. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

  The Group The Company
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

    
Highly liquid investments 2,016 1,967 0 0
Term deposits with licensed banks 2,403 2,572 1,235 1,407
Cash and bank balances 2,630 1,840 280 132
  7,049 6,379 1,515 1,539

 
 A term deposit of the Group amounti ng to RM180,000 (2009 : RM180,000) has been pledged as security for 

credit faciliti es granted to the Group and hence, is not freely available for use. The eff ecti ve interest rates of 
the term deposits range from 2.0% to 2.3% (2009 : 1.8% to 2.5%) per annum. 

14. PAYABLES

  The Group The Company
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

 
Trade payables 972 592 0 0
Other payables 645 866 91 127
  1,617 1,458 91 127

The currency exposure profi le of payables is as follows:-

  The Group The Company
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

 
Ringgit Malaysia  1,588 1,357 91 127
Singapore Dollar 0 4 0 0
US Dollar 29 97 0 0
  1,617 1,458 91 127

The credit terms of trade payables range from 7 to 90 days.

15. LOANS AND BORROWINGS
 
The Group
    2010 2009
    RM’000 RM’000 

  
Revolving credits - secured   11,801 25,401

 Revolving credits are secured against a term deposit of the Group (Note 13) and term deposits of a director 
of the Company and his close family members. The eff ecti ve interest rates of the revolving credits range from 
3.0% to 3.4% (2009 : 3.5% to 4.3%) per annum.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2010 (cont’d)
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16. RETIREMENT BENEFITS

  The Group The Company
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

 
Balance at 1 April  708 714 145 118
Charged to income statement 158 153 28 27
Paid during the year (52) (159) 0 0
Balance at 31 March 814 708 173 145

 Represented by:-     
 
Present value of unfunded obligati ons 1,070 980 194 166
Unrecognised actuarial loss (256) (272) (21) (21)
  814 708 173 145
 
Disclosed as:-     

 
Current liabiliti es 4 8 0 0
Non-current liabiliti es 810 700 173 145
  814 708 173 145

The reti rement benefi ts charged to income statement may be analysed as follows:-

  The Group The Company
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

 
Amorti sati on of actuarial loss 16 18 0 1
Current service cost 82 83 19 19
Interest cost 60 52 9 7
  158 153 28 27
 
Included in:-     

 
Cost of sales 91 93 0 0
Administrati ve and general expenses 67 60 28 27
  158 153 28 27

 
The principal actuarial assumpti ons in respect of the defi ned benefi t plan are as follows:-

  The Group The Company
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  % % % %
 
Discount rate 5.25 5.25 5.25 5.25
Expected rate of salary increases 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the financial year ended 31 March 2010 (cont’d)
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17. SHARE CAPITAL

    2010 2009
    RM’000 RM’000
   
Authorised:-    
200,000,000 ordinary shares of RM0.50 each   100,000 100,000
   
Issued and fully paid-up:-   
130,361,472 ordinary shares of RM0.50 each   65,180 65,180

 
18. RESERVES

  The Group The Company
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Share premium  13,296 13,296 13,296 13,296
Revaluati on surplus 815 815 0 0
Capital reserve 815 815 1,800 1,800
Accumulated losses (14,331) (16,214) (9,487) (9,938)
  595 (1,288) 5,609 5,158

19. REVENUE

  The Group The Company
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Sale of goods 14,255 16,616 0 0
Management fee 0 0 240 190
Dividend income 0 0 1,200 0
Interest income 4,736 3,279 28 405
Rental income 321 143 142 141
  19,312 20,038 1,610 736

 
20. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX

  The Group The Company
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

  
Profi t/(Loss) before tax is arrived at aft er charging:-   
     
Allowance for doubtf ul debts 0 94 0 0
Amorti sati on of prepaid lease payments 48 47 10 10
Auditors’ remunerati on    
- current year 43 35 17 14
- prior year 8 (1) 3 0
Bad debts writt en off     
- subsidiary 0 0 2 0
- third parti es 12 0 3 0
Depreciati on of:-    
- investment property 114 33 28 28
- property, plant and equipment 656 647 17 10
Directors’ remunerati on    
- fees 42 42 42 42
- other emoluments 372 369 372 369

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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20. PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX (cont’d)

  The Group The Company
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

  
Impairment loss of investment in associate* 275 0 78 0
Interest expense 658 490 0 0
Inventories writt en down to net realisable value 0 13 0 0
Property, plant and equipment writt en off  1 0 0 0
Rental of premises 4 12 0 0

and crediti ng:-     

Allowance for doubtf ul debts writt en back    
- subsidiary 0 0 44 0
- third parti es 0 51 0 0
Allowance for slow moving inventories writt en back 5 26 0 0
Bad debts recovered 8 1 0 0
Dividend income from investment in subsidiary 0 0 1,200 0
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 271 71 40 0
Interest income from:-    
- hire purchase fi nancing 4,626 2,760 0 0
- term deposits 110 499 28 405
- overdue instalments 0 20 0 0
Realised gain on foreign exchange 0 6 0 0
Rental income from:-    
- investment property 321 143 112 111
- other premises 0 0 30 30

* Included in administrati ve and general expenses

21. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE

  The Group The Company
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

  
Short-term employee benefi ts 4,239 4,358 704 720
Defi ned contributi on plan 399 402 78 80
Defi ned benefi t plan 158 153 28 27
Terminati on benefi ts 10 147 0 0 

 4,806 5,060 810 827

22. TAX EXPENSE/(INCOME)

  The Group The Company
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000
Tax based on results for the year:-   
Malaysian income tax 467 6 0 0
Deferred tax 404 (390) 0 0 

 871 (384) 0 0
Tax underprovided in prior year 7 5 0 5
  878 (379) 0 5

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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22. TAX EXPENSE/(INCOME) (cont’d)

 The numerical reconciliati on between the applicable tax rate, which is the statutory income tax rate, and the 
average eff ecti ve tax rate is as follows:-

  The Group The Company
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  % % % %

Applicable tax rate 25.00 25.00 25.00 (25.00)
Share of results of associate 0.39 4.65 0.00 0.00
Non-deducti ble expenses 14.20 15.69 45.65 19.63
Non-taxable income (0.47) (0.97) (71.10) 0.00
(Decrease)/Increase in unrecognised deferred tax assets (7.86) (71.00) 0.45 5.37
Average eff ecti ve tax rate 31.26 (26.63) 0.00 0.00

 The tax saving of the Group and the Company for which credit has been taken in the current year as a result 
of the realisati on of unused tax losses brought forward that had not been accounted for previously amounted 
to approximately RM41,000 and RM7,000 (2009 : RM927,000 and NIL) respecti vely.
 

23. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The Group

 The basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the Group’s net profi t for the fi nancial year att ributable 
to shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year 
as follows:-

    2010 2009
   
Net profi t for the fi nancial year att ributable to shareholders 
of the Company (RM’000)   1,909 1,823
   
Weighted average number of shares in issue (‘000)   130,361 130,361
   
Basic earnings per share (sen)  1.46 1.40

 The diluted earnings per share equals the basic earnings per share as the Company did not have any diluti ve 
potenti al ordinary shares during the fi nancial year.

24. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Signifi cant transacti ons with related parti es during the fi nancial year are as follows:-

  The Group The Company
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Key management personnel compensati on  
- short-term employee benefi ts 629 484 374 372
- defi ned contributi on plan 66 52 40 39
  695 536 414 411

Disposal of property, plant and equipment to subsidiary 0 0 40 0
Dividend declared from subsidiary 0 0 1,200 0
Management fee charged to subsidiaries 0 0 240 190
Rental of premises charged to subsidiary 0 0 30 30
Subscripti on for preference shares in subsidiary 0 0 0 40,000

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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24. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (cont’d)

  The Group The Company
  2010 2009 2010 2009
  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

Granti ng of hire purchase fi nancing to related party*    
- principal fi nanced 4,398 73,762 0 0
- principal repaid 15,059 6,784 0 0
- interest charged and repaid 4,626 2,760 0 0

Provision of collateral by related parti es
     ** for subsidiary’s credit faciliti es 0 30,000 0 0
Purchase of property, plant and equipment from 

related party*** 325 0 0 0

* Being a company in which a director of the Company and his close family members have substanti al 
fi nancial interests

** Being a director of the Company and his close family members

*** Being a company of which a director of the Company and a director of a subsidiary are directors

25. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group

 Segment informati on is presented in respect of the Group’s business and geographical segments. The primary 
format, business segments, is based on the Group’s management and internal reporti ng structure. 

 Segment revenue, results, assets and liabiliti es include items directly att ributable to a segment as well as those 
that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items mainly comprise equity accounted investment, 
income tax assets, interest-bearing liabiliti es, income tax liabiliti es and their related income and expenses.

 Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire segment assets that are 
expected to be used for more than one period.

 Business Segments

The principal acti viti es of the Group can be categorised into the following business segments:-

(i) Manufacture of wood products
(ii) Investment holding 
(iii) Granti ng of hire purchase and other fi nancing
(iv) Others
 
2010

 Manufacture     
 of wood Investment Granti ng of   
 products holding fi nancing Others Total 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 

REVENUE     
Total revenue 14,255 1,901 4,626 0 20,782
Inter-segment revenue 0 (1,470) 0 0 (1,470)
External revenue 14,255 431 4,626 0 19,312 
     
RESULTS     
Segment results 789 (1,140) 4,113 0 3,762
Finance costs     (658)
Share of results of associate (43)    (43)
Impairment loss of 
   investment in associate (275)    (275)
Tax expense     (878)
Net profi t for the year     1,908 
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25. SEGMENT REPORTING (cont’d)

2010
 Manufacture     
 of wood Investment Granti ng of   
 products holding fi nancing Others Total 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 

ASSETS    
Segment assets 10,112 12,799 57,007 0 79,918
Investment in associate 594    594
Income tax assets     118
Total assets     80,630

 
LIABILITIES      
Segment liabiliti es 2,408 325 113 0 2,846
Interest-bearing liabiliti es     11,801
Income tax liabiliti es     183
Total liabiliti es     14,830
     
Capital expenditure 4 116 325 0 445

Amorti sati on and depreciati on 507 255 56 0 818

Other non-cash expenses 1 3 9 0 13 

2009

 Manufacture     
 of wood Investment Granti ng of   
 products holding fi nancing Others Total 
 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
 
REVENUE      
Total revenue 16,616 862 2,780 0 20,258 
Inter-segment revenue 0 (220) 0 0 (220) 
External revenue 16,616 642 2,780 0 20,038 
    
RESULTS     
Segment results 313 (721) 2,610 (2) 2,200 
Finance costs     (490) 
Share of results of associate (268)    (268) 
Tax income     379 
Net profi t for the year     1,821 
 
ASSETS      
Segment assets 15,865 6,900 67,547 1 90,313 
Investment in associate 912    912 
Income tax assets     497 
Total assets     91,722 
 
LIABILITIES      
Segment liabiliti es 1,981 273 104 1 2,359 
Interest-bearing liabiliti es     25,401 
Income tax liabiliti es     44 
Total liabiliti es     27,804 
 
Capital expenditure 27 5 91 0 123 

Amorti sati on and depreciati on 676 43 8 0 727 

Other non-cash expenses 107 0 0 0 107 
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25. SEGMENT REPORTING (cont’d)

Geographical Segments

 Informati on on segment assets and capital expenditure based on the geographical locati on of assets has not 
been presented as the Group operates predominantly in Malaysia. Segment revenue based on the geographical 
locati on of customers is analysed as follows:-

    2010 2009
    RM’000 RM’000
   
Malaysia   17,419 16,671
United States of America   1,893 3,141
Others   0 226
    19,312 20,038

26. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES - UNSECURED

The Company

The Company has issued corporate guarantees to fi nancial insti tuti ons for credit faciliti es granted to certain 
subsidiaries up to a total limit of approximately RM32,600,000 (2009 : RM33,600,000) of which approximately 
RM12,130,000 (2009 : RM25,515,000) has been uti lised as at the balance sheet date.

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
 
Recognised Financial Instruments

 The informati on about the extent and nature of signifi cant recognised fi nancial instruments is disclosed in the 
individual notes associated with each item. 

 Unrecognised Financial Instruments

 The Group and the Company do not have any unrecognised fi nancial instruments other than the fi nancial 
guarantees as disclosed in Note 26 to the fi nancial statements.

 Fair Values

  The carrying amounts of fi nancial assets and liabiliti es of the Group and the Company as at 31 March 2010 and 
2009 approximate their fair values.

 The fair values of fi nancial guarantees granted by the Company are not expected to be material as the 
probability of the subsidiaries defaulti ng on the credit lines is remote.

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

 The acti viti es of the Group expose it to certain fi nancial risks, including currency risk, interest rate risk, credit 
risk and liquidity risk. The overall fi nancial risk management objecti ve of the Group is to maximise shareholders’ 
value by minimising the potenti al adverse impacts of these risks on its fi nancial positi on, performance and 
cash fl ows.

 The Board of Directors explicitly assumes the responsibiliti es of fi nancial risk management which is carried out 
mainly through risk reviews and internal control systems. 
 
Currency Risk

 The Group’s exposure to currency risk arises mainly from transacti ons entered into by individual enti ti es within 
the Group in currencies other than their functi onal currencies.

 The Group monitors the movements of exchange rates and acts accordingly to minimise its currency risk. 
The Group’s foreign currency sales and purchases also provide a natural hedge against fl uctuati ons in foreign 
currencies.
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cont’d)

 Interest Rate Risk

 The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk arises mainly from borrowings.

 The Group manages its exposure to interest rate risk by seeking to obtain the most  favourable interest rates 
available without increasing its other fi nancial risk exposures.

 Credit Risk

 The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises mainly from receivables. The maximum credit risk exposure is best 
represented by the total carrying amount of these fi nancial assets in the balance sheet.

 The Group manages its exposure to credit risk by assessing counter parti es’ fi nancial standings on an ongoing 
basis, setti  ng and monitoring counter parti es’ limits and credit terms. Other than the granti ng of hire purchase 
fi nancing to a related party as menti oned in Note 11 to the fi nancial statements, the Group does not have any 
major concentrati on of credit risk relati ng to any individual customer or counter party.

 
 Liquidity Risk

 The Group practi ses prudent liquidity risk management by maintaining suffi  cient cash and the availability of 
funding through certain committ ed credit faciliti es.
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ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
as at 2 August 2010

A. SHARE CAPITAL

 Authorised Share Capital : RM100,000,000.00 (200,000,000 ordinary shares of RM0.50 each)
 Issued and Paid-up Capital : RM  65,180,736.00 (130,361,472 ordinary shares of RM0.50 each)
 Voti ng Rights : One vote for each ordinary share held

B. DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS

 Holdings No. of Holders Total Holdings % of Holdings
 
 Less than 100 221 9,368 0.01
 100         - 1,000 701 544,585 0.42
 1,001     - 10,000 2,600 8,358,784 6.41
 10,001    - 100,000 366 9,222,316 7.07
 100,001  - less than 5% of issued shares 49 72,442,890 55.57
 5% and above of issued shares 3 39,783,529 30.52

  3,940 130,361,472 100.00

C. SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

  Direct Interest Deemed Interest
   No. of  % of No. of % of
  Name of Shareholders Shares Holdings  Shares Holdings
 
 1. Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Hua Choon 22,641,985 17.37 - -

 2. Tan Ching Ching 10,247,300 7.86 - -

 3. Permodalan Nasional Berhad 6,894,244 5.29 - -

 4. Yayasan Pelaburan Bumiputra - - 6,894,244* 5.29

*  Deemed interest through its shareholding of 100% less one share of Permodalan Nasional Berhad by virtue of Secti on 6A of 
the Companies Act, 1965.

D. DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN SHARES

 
  Direct Interest Deemed Interest
   No. of  % of No. of % of
 Name of Director Shares Holdings Shares Holdings

 1. Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Hua Choon 22,641,985 17.37 16,091,400* 12.34

*  Deemed interested in the shareholdings of his children pursuant to Secti on 134(12)(c) of the Companies Act, 1965.
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ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDINGS
as at 2 August 2010 (cont’d)

E. THIRTY LARGEST REGISTERED SHAREHOLDERS

Name of Shareholders No. of Shares % of Holdings

1. Tan Sri Dato’ Tan Hua Choon 22,641,985 17.37

2. Tan Ching Ching 10,247,300 7.86

3. Permodalan Nasional Berhad 6,894,244 5.29

4. Mayban Securiti es Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd 6,460,000 4.96
  Pledged securiti es account for Lim Eng Huat (REM-650) 

5. Gan Lock Yong @ Gan Choon Hur 6,419,500 4.92

6. Lim Siew Sooi  6,210,200 4.76

7. Low Cheng Peng 5,927,700 4.55

8. Tan Han Chuan 5,844,100 4.48

9. Ong Har Hong 5,436,000 4.17

10. Ong Wee Lieh 5,166,000 3.96

11. Chew Boon Seng 4,285,671 3.29

12. Ong Poh Lin 4,103,300 3.15

13. Ong Poh Geok 3,867,000 2.97

14. Ong Huey Peng 2,526,500 1.94

15. Lee Pui Inn 2,154,800 1.65

16. Sin Len Moi 1,865,800 1.43

17. Tan Lay Choo 1,062,000 0.81

18. Chew Boon Seng 1,057,500 0.81

19. Ong Huey Peng 1,040,000 0.80

20. Ong Huey Peng 838,348 0.64

21. Chong Wah Lee  796,800 0.61

22. Hussein Noordin Sdn. Berhad  695,250 0.53

23. Wong Hok Yim 552,000 0.42

24. Sin Kek Yong 551,000 0.42

25. Lim Siak Hwah 455,400 0.35

26. Cheong Kui Lan 443,500 0.34

27. Chew Choon Soo 400,000 0.31

28. Syarikat Jeragan (Holdings) Sdn Bhd 354,450 0.27

29. Lim Sew Hua @ Lim Seow Hua 335,000 0.26

30. Sin Len Moi 247,300 0.19

MALAYSIA AICA BERHAD  (8235-K)



68
LIST OF GROUP PROPERTIES
as at 31 March 2010

    Tenure/  Net Book
Date Of    Approximate  Value as at
Acquisiti on/    Age of Area 31.3.2010
Revaluati on Locati on Descripti on Existi ng  Use Building (Sq. metres) (RM) 

31.03.1985 Lot 1772, Secti on 3 Land & Factory Leasehold  5,052 649,000 
(Acquisiti on) Mak Mandin Industrial Estate Industrial  (expiring on
 Seberang Perai, Pulau Pinang Building  20.5.2071)/
     41 years  

31.03.1983 Lot 1780, Secti on 3 Land & Factory Leasehold  13,575   1,440,000 
(Revaluati on) Mak Mandin Industrial Estate Industrial  (expiring on   
 Seberang Perai, Pulau Pinang Building  15.8.2073)/  
    34 years  

30.11.1992 68-5-1, Maica Court Residenti al Residenti al Freehold / Strata  255   203,000 
(Acquisiti on) 68, Jalan Cantonment Apartment  25 years  
 Pulau Pinang   

31.03.1983 Lot 822, Taman Seluang, Land & Vacant Freehold/ 418   105,000 
(Revaluati on) Kulim, Kedah Residenti al  29 years  
  Building  

31.03.1990  9, Jalan Zainal Abidin Land & Offi  ce Freehold/  362   1,287,000 
(Acquisiti on) Pulau Pinang Commercial  22 years  
  Building   

31.03.1987 Plot 23, Kulim Industrial Estate Land & Factory Leasehold  59,934   3,571,000 
(Acquisiti on) Kulim, Kedah Industrial  (expiring on   
  Building  9.11.2080)/  
    29 years  
      
31.08.1995 Plot 44, Kulim Industrial Estate Land & Vacant Leasehold  14,164   2,096,000 
(Acquisiti on) Kulim, Kedah Industrial  (expiring on   
  Building  6.4.2082)/  
    10 years  
      
15.12.1981 15, Jalan Zainal Abidin Land & Offi  ce Freehold/  203   454,000 
(Revaluati on) Pulau Pinang Commercial  32 years  
  Building    
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PROXY FORMMALAYSIA AICA BERHAD (8235-K)
I/We ..............................................................................................NRIC No./Company No. …..........................................….....
          (FULL NAME IN BLOCK LETTERS) 

of ..................................................................................................................................................……........................................
       (FULL ADDRESS)

being a member of MALAYSIA AICA BERHAD hereby appoint  …….................................................................……………………

.................................................................................................NRIC No.....................................................................................
  (FULL NAME IN BLOCK LETTERS) 

of ….............................................................................................................................................................................................
      (FULL ADDRESS)

representi ng ..................…….…........ percentage (%) of my/our shareholdings in the Company and/or failing him/her

.................................................................................................NRIC No..................................................................................... 
 (FULL NAME IN BLOCK LETTERS) 

of ….............................................................................................................................................................................................
      (FULL ADDRESS)

representi ng ………. percentage(%) of my/our shareholdings in the Company and/or failing him/her/them, the 
Chairman of the Meeti ng as my/our proxy/proxies to vote for me/us on my/our behalf, at the Forty-First Annual 
General Meeti ng (“41st AGM”) of the shareholders of the Company to be held at Bukit Kiara Equestrian and Country 
Resort, Dewan Berjaya Room, Jalan Bukit Kiara, Off  Jalan Damansara, 60000 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia on Tuesday, 21 
September 2010 at 10.30 a.m. or any adjournment thereof.

The proxy is to vote on the Resoluti ons set out in the noti ce of the 41st AGM as indicated with an `X’ at the relevant columns. 
If no voti ng instructi ons are given, the proxy/proxies may vote or abstain from voti ng at his/her/their discreti on.

Ordinary Business FOR AGAINST

Ordinary Resoluti on No. 1  

Ordinary Resoluti on No. 2  

Ordinary Resoluti on No. 3(a)  

Ordinary Resoluti on No. 3(b)  

Ordinary Resoluti on No. 4  

Special Business  

Ordinary Resoluti on No. 5  

                                          
 
Signed  this  ________  day of ___________________ 2010.

Notes:
1. A member enti tled to att end and vote at the meeti ng is enti tled to appoint one or more proxies (but not more than two) to att end and vote 

instead of him.  A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company and the provisions of Secti on 149(1) (b) of the Companies Act, 1965 
shall not apply to the Company.  Where a member appoints two proxies to att end the same meeti ng, the member shall specify the proporti on 
of his shareholding to be represented by each proxy, failing which the appointment shall be invalid.

2. The instrument appointi ng a proxy shall be in writi ng under the hand of the appointor or of his att orney duly authorised in writi ng or, if the 
appointor is a corporati on, either under the corporati on’s common seal or under the hand of an offi  cer or att orney duly authorised. The 
instrument appointi ng a proxy shall be deemed to confer authority to demand or join in demanding a poll.

3. The Proxy Form shall be deposited with the Company’s Share Registrars, Tricor Investor Services Sdn Bhd (formerly known as Tenaga Koperat 
Sdn Bhd), Level 17, The Gardens North Tower, Mid Valley City, Lingkaran Syed Putra, 59200 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, not less than forty-eight 
(48) hours before the ti me appointed for holding the meeti ng or any adjournment thereof.

No. of shares held

Signature/Common Seal 
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c/o Tricor Investor Services Sdn Bhd
(formerly known as Tenaga Koperat Sdn Bhd)

Level 17, The Gardens North Tower
Mid Valley City, Lingkaran Syed Putra

59200 Kuala Lumpur
Malaysia

STAMP
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